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1. Cautionary Statements 
This Report may include statements with respect to future events, trends, plans, expectation or objectives 
relating to MS Amlin AG’s future business, financial condition, results of operations, performance and 
strategy. Forward looking statements are not statements of historical fact and may contain the terms, “may”, 
“will”, “should”, “continue”, “aims”, “estimates”, “projects”, “believes”, “intends”, “expects”, “plans”, “seeks” or  
“anticipates” or words which have a similar meaning. No undue reliance should be placed on such 
statements because, by their nature, they are subject to unknown risks and uncertainties and can be 
affected by other factors that could cause actual results and plans of MS Amlin AG to differ materially from 
those expressed or implied in the forward looking statements (or from past results). Factors such as, but not 
limited to (i) general economic conditions and competitive factors, particularly in key markets, in each case 
on a local, regional, national and/or global basis (ii) the risk of a global economic downturn (iii) performance 
of financial markets (iv) levels of interest rates and currency exchange rates (v) the frequency, severity and 
development of insured claims events  (vi) policy renewal and lapse rates (vii) changes in laws and 
regulations and in the policies of regulators (viii) increases in loss expenses may all have a direct bearing on 
the results of operations of MS Amlin AG and on whether any targets may be achieved. Many of these 
factors may be more likely to occur or be more pronounced as a result of catastrophic events. MS Amlin AG 
does not undertake or assume any obligation to update or revise any of these forward looking statements, 
whether to reflect any new information, future events or circumstances or otherwise, except as required by 
applicable laws and regulations. 
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2. Executive Summary 
This annual Financial Condition Report (“FCR”) for the year ended 31 December 2017 has been prepared 
for MS Amlin AG (“MS AAG” or “the Company”).  

MS Amlin AG is a wholly owned subsidiary of MS Amlin plc. On 1 February 2016 Amlin plc and its 
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) was acquired by Mitsui Sumitomo Insurance Company Limited (“MSI”) 
and its ultimate parent became MS&AD Insurance Group Holdings, Inc. (“MS&AD”).  

On 31 December 2016 as part of a reorganisation within MS&AD, MS Amlin plc sold 100% of its interest in 
the issued share capital and voting rights of MS Frontier Reinsurance Limited (“MSF”) to the Company, in 
exchange for one share in the Company immediately before a legal merger was effected between MSF and 
the Company. The merged entity continues to operate under the legal name MS Amlin AG. 

Basis of preparation 

This Financial Condition Report has been prepared in line with the requirements as set out in the Swiss 
Financial Market Supervisory Authority (“FINMA”) Circular 2016/2 “Disclosure – insurers”. The circular 
expands on Articles 111a and 203a of the Insurance Supervision Ordinance (ISO; SR 961,011) on the FCRs 
of supervised insurance companies, groups and conglomerates.  This report is to meet the regulatory 
reporting requirements of MS Amlin AG, and for no other purpose and should not be relied upon for any 
other such purpose. 

Financial information included in this report is based on MS Amlin AG’s 2018 Swiss Solvency Test’s (“SST”) 
Market Consistent Balance Sheet (for Balance Sheet financial information) and the 2017 IFRS Annual 
Report, (for Profit or Loss information); both have been prepared in accordance with their relevant regulatory 
or accounting standards. Unless stated otherwise, this report represents the position of MS Amlin AG as at 
31 December 2017 only and will not necessarily reflect all changes in MS Amlin AG’s operations since that 
date. All quantitative information in this report is disclosed in USD, MS Amlin AG’s functional currency. 

Business and Performance 

The Company is incorporated in Switzerland and is headquartered in Zurich with branches in Bermuda and 
Labuan, Malaysia. The Company is supervised by FINMA, with the Bermuda branch also registered under 
the authority of the Bermuda Monetary Authority (“BMA”), and the Malaysia branch under the authority of the 
Labuan Financial Services Authority (“LFSA”). 

The operation in Zurich was set up to write European non-life reinsurance from Zurich. It offers 
comprehensive reinsurance solutions over all non-life classes and products. 

Through the Bermuda branch, the Company carries out reinsurance business principally on a geographically 
spread catastrophe and property account. In addition, Syndicate 2001 (“the Syndicate”), a Lloyd’s Syndicate 
managed within the MS Amlin group, has placed a number of intercompany reinsurance contracts with the 
Company.  

These intercompany reinsurance contracts are: 
 a number of proportional treaty and excess of loss contracts covering cessions of various classes of 

business; and 
 a whole account quota share which covers a specific cession from all classes of business written by the 

Syndicate, including marine, non-marine, aviation and UK commercial on a global basis. 

The operation in Labuan stopped writing business in early 2018 and has been put into run-off. Historically it 
carried out reinsurance business made up of principally excess of loss and proportional business 
geographically located in East and South East Asia. 

The Company formerly had a wholly-owned subsidiary in Singapore, which carried out activities relating to 
the provision of catastrophe modelling services, but this subsidiary was dissolved during 2017 and its 
activities and staff combined with the existing modelling function of MS Amlin plc. 

System of Governance 

The Company operates a two tier board governance structure with the Supervisory Board made up of 
directors who are not actively engaged in the day-to-day management of the Company, of which at least two 
shall be independent of the Company. The Supervisory Board appoints a Chairman from its members. 
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The Executive Board is the Company’s managing body and shall consist of the Chief Executive Officer 
(Chairman) and other senior officers and managers of the Company. These appointments are at the 
discretion of the Supervisory Board. 

The Supervisory Board also appoints Board Committees for specific purposes from among its members. 
Currently these committees comprise:  

• the Audit Committee; 

• the Risk and Solvency Committee; and 

• the Nomination Committee. 

The Company has a “Fit & Proper Standard” which sets out how the organisation ensures that senior 
management and other key function holders are fit and proper in accordance with both internal and external 
regulatory requirements. This Fit & Proper Standard is set at the Group level and is adopted by the 
Company as an MS Amlin Group subsidiary. 

The Company’s Risk Management Framework is aligned with the system implemented at the MS Amlin 
Group level. Risk management is an integral part of business planning. Risk management objectives seek to 
bring business strategy, capital management, and enterprise risk management together to optimise the 
relationship between these elements to achieve the best long-term sustainable outcome for shareholders, 
insured parties, employees and other stakeholders. As part of the Risk Management Framework, risk 
tolerances are monitored and reported on a quarterly basis to the Company’s Risk Committee and Boards. 

As part of its risk management system MS Amlin AG conducts, at least annually, an Own Risk and Solvency 
Assessment (“ORSA”) taking into account its risk profile, business strategy and related capital requirements. 
The Company performs its ORSA independently from the Group. The ORSA is fully embedded into the 
overall Risk Management Framework and is aligned to capital strategy and business planning related 
processes. 

The Company operates a system of internal controls. These internal controls contribute to meeting various 
objectives, including operational effectiveness and efficiency, reliable financial reporting, compliance with 
laws and regulations and management of reputational and strategic risk.  

The Internal Audit function is a centralised MS Amlin Group function servicing MS Amlin AG. Its 
independence and objectivity are guaranteed through direct reporting lines to the MS Amlin AG Audit 
Committee and Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board has delegated its responsibility for overseeing 
the internal audit activity to its Audit Committee. The Internal Audit function’s programme of work is based 
on an annual audit plan compiled by the Chief Internal Auditor and presented to the MS Amlin AG Audit 
Committee for approval annually. 

The Company has a dedicated Compliance function as part of its management structure. The role of the 
Compliance function is to provide assurance to the executive management and the Boards that the 
Company complies with all regulatory requirements, associated laws, and relevant MS Amlin policies. The 
Compliance function reports to the MS Amlin AG Audit Committee regarding progress against the 
Compliance Plan and Compliance Monitoring. The Compliance function also reports to the MS Amlin AG 
Risk Committee on regulatory returns, integrity risks and regulatory updates.  

MS Amlin AG has a local actuarial team supported by the group actuarial function in some areas. The core 
actuarial function focuses on providing capital modelling and reserving services.  The pricing actuaries 
report directly to the underwriting function and there is close co-operation between the pricing actuaries and 
the core team in the areas of business planning, reserving and setting of technical pricing standards. 

Risk Management 

MS Amlin AG’s vision and core values provide the strategic focus for the risk management system to deliver 
“effective risk management which optimises return for the risks we take” with the objective to deliver long-
term value. This is achieved by actively seeking and accepting risk while managing that risk within 
acceptable bounds. 

This Risk Management Framework has four key elements: 

• Governance from Boards, Risk Committee and the accountability of management; 

• Risk policy and clarity of risk appetite and tolerances; 
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• Risk identification and assessment; 

• Reporting processes to drive action and enhancement of MS Amlin AG’s management of its risks. 

Valuation for Solvency purposes 

The MS Amlin AG SST 2018 Capital Ratio described in detail later in this report is 206%, which compares 
favourably with the minimum FINMA SST solvency requirement of 100%. The SST One-year risk capital is 
USD 882.2m, the risk margin is USD 120.1m, the Target capital is USD 1,002.3m and the SST Risk Bearing 
Capital is USD 1,937.4m. Please note that the SST 2018 was filed with FINMA on April 2018, 
simultaneously to this document.  

As described throughout this document, the MS Amlin AG SST Target Capital continues to be dominated by 
the risk of natural catastrophe losses.  This is to be expected and in-line with the Company’s business 
model, with property catastrophe business remaining the largest single business class.   

The relevant measure of available own funds is the Risk Bearing Capital (“RBC”) calculated on the SST 
market consistent balance sheet. MS Amlin AG has net assets under IFRS of USD 1,767.8m as compared 
to USD 1,937.4m net assets based on SST market consistent balance sheet.  

The adjustments made to move from IFRS balance sheet to SST market consistent balance sheet are set 
out below: 

 
In USD millions SST 2017 SST 2018 

Excess of assets over liabilities - IFRS (*) 2,553 1,768   

Technical provision adjustments 102 162   

Other adjustments (**) 8 8   

Excess of assets over liabilities- SST market-consistent balance sheet 2,663              1,938 

Approved Dividend (554) 0  

Intangible Assets 0 -1.0 

SST Risk Bearing Capital after dividend 2,109 1,937   

 (*) Please note that figures are obtained from MS Amlin AG's IFRS annual report as of 31 December 2016 
and 2017, respectively. 

(**) Other adjustments mainly include adjustments on deferred tax, retirement benefit obligations and foreign 
currency translation. 
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3. Business Activities 

3.1 Information about the insurance company’s business 
activities and Group Status 

 

MS Amlin AG is a Swiss-domiciled, global specialty reinsurer operating in local and international reinsurance 
markets and underwriting many classes of business through one capitalised underwriting platform.  

MS Amlin AG is part of the MS Amlin group of companies and was renamed following the acquisition of 
Amlin plc by the Mitsui Sumitomo Insurance Company Limited (“MSI”), a wholly owned subsidiary of MS&AD 
Insurance Group Holdings, Inc. (“MS&AD”). Both MSI and MS&AD are registered in Japan.  

Amlin Bermuda was created as a separately capitalised reinsurance vehicle in 2005, domiciled in Bermuda.  
In 2010 the corporate seat of this company was redomiciled to Switzerland and became Amlin AG. The 
existing Bermuda operations continued as a separate underwriting centre but as a branch of Amlin AG. 
Amlin AG was renamed as MS Amlin AG during 2016. 

It merged with MS Frontier Reinsurance Limited (“MSF”), the principal reinsurance vehicle of MSI on 31 
December 2016. MSF was established in 1997 and primarily wrote property catastrophe business in North 
America, Europe and Australasia.  

MS Amlin AG now consists of three platforms: MS Amlin Re Europe in Zurich, Switzerland where the 
company headquarters are located, and its two branches; MS Amlin Bermuda based in Hamilton, Bermuda 
and MS Amlin Labuan based in Malaysia. The Labuan branch was put into run-off in April 2018. MSF 
previously owned a subsidiary in Singapore providing catastrophe modelling research which was dissolved 
in 2017.   

MS Amlin AG also writes intragroup reinsurance treaties out of Bermuda with the Group’s largest Lloyd’s 
Syndicate, Syndicate 2001, managed by MS Amlin Underwriting Limited (“AUL”).  Further information on the 
business written by each area of MS Amlin AG is included in Section 3.2. 

As of the balance sheet date, MS Amlin AG currently provides loans of USD 230.5m to MS Amlin plc.  

3.2 Strategy, objectives and key business segments 

MS Amlin AG manages its underwriting operations and strategic direction through the Reinsurance Strategic 
Business Unit (RI SBU). MS Amlin AG and the RI SBU business unit are supported by centralised group 
functions that seek to optimise operations and provide a consistent level of service and oversight to the 
Reinsurance platform.  

The RI SBU strategy is driven by client intimacy and profitable growth and reflects the underwriting strategy 
of MS Amlin AG. MS Amlin AG ensures that the strategic plans adopted by the Reinsurance SBU and 
centralised group functions are consistent with its overall strategy. 

Distribution 

MS Amlin AG seeks to optimise its distribution strategy on a continuing basis. A priority initiative for 2018 is 
to further analyse the benefits of new distributions strategies while also focusing on initiatives to increase the 
efficiency of the internal operations around the distribution model. 

Expected benefits of an optimised distribution strategy include greater geographical diversification, greater 
proximity to clients and brokers, protection against changes in business flows and improved understanding 
of regional markets. 

Products 

We have made good progress expanding our credit and surety, motor, mortgage risk and casualty classes, 
providing diversification for our traditional property income.  We aim to continue to develop a greater 
understanding of the flow of global reinsurance product demands to enable strategic infrastructure to 
support a broader and more targeted product offering. 
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Expected benefits of product development include greater diversification beyond traditional short-tail focus, 
top-line growth with the requisite expertise to protect profitability and deepening relationships with clients 
and brokers.  

Capital and capacity 

We continue to develop our understanding of capital and capacity needs by region and product and evaluate 
options, which include use of our own capital or third party capital, for example Leadenhall Capital Partners 
(LCP), joint ventures, reciprocal quota shares, portfolio swaps, side-cars or hedge funds.   

Expected benefits include increased relevance to clients and brokers through the ability to offer more 
meaningful lines and increased cross-sell leverage across products. 

Service and client intimacy 

We aim to deliver best in class service and differentiating client intimacy, including focus on:  
 

 Client segmentation 

 Increased cross-selling 

 Embedding of a Client Relationship Management system 

 Development of client intimacy culture and skills, with emphasis on client needs, innovation and 

consistency 

 
Expected benefits include a broader and deeper relationship with our clients, improved signings and 
increased leadership. 
 
Underwriting excellence 
 
Underwriting excellence continues to sit at the very core of our business. We aim to continue developing our 
tools for both pricing and accumulation monitoring, including priority initiatives: 
 

 Continued Pricing and Portfolio Management (PPM) tool development. 

 Continued Technical Pricing development. 

 Enhancing the internal view of risk with better alignment between model results and underwriting 

decisions. 

 Enhancing MI and monitoring of KPIs. 

 
Expected benefits include greater transparency and reduced modelling risk when pricing, increased 
understanding and likelihood of meeting profitability targets, increased confidence in decision making and 
increased competitiveness. 
 
Efficiency and technology 
 
The aims of this priority are to; 
 

 Minimise our own costs of doing business through process effectiveness, innovations and 

technological developments; 

 Differentiate ourselves as a partner through ease of use for our clients and brokers; 

 Support our drive for best in class service. This includes reviewing our core platform strategy and 

ensuring we develop an efficient and scalable infrastructure; 

 Invest in technologies to improve operational efficiencies. 

 
Expected benefits include enhanced client and broker intimacy and improvement of our own expense ratio. 
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Business Segments 
 
The key business segments of MS Amlin AG are described below: 
 

 MS Amlin Bermuda (“AB”): Established in 2005, AB writes a portfolio of reinsurance business on a 
direct basis. A large proportion of the business written emanates from London broker markets. MS 
Amlin AG merged with MSF, that was also based in Bermuda, on 31 December 2016 and retained 
the basic company structure already existing. The main focus of this business is property 
catastrophe excess of loss reinsurance, in addition to proportional reinsurance, risk excess of loss, 
and specialty lines written in both the North American and International markets. AB writes similar 
classes of business to MSF and these books of business were combined and underwritten from the 
single AB platform from 1 January 2017.  
 

 MS Amlin Re Europe (“ARE”): ARE is focused on business which provides diversification when 
compared to AB’s book, particularly with regard to natural catastrophe exposures. Accordingly ARE 
targets EMEA (Europe, Middle East and Africa) clients for all classes of business. Business 
previously underwritten by the Swiss branch of MSF continues to be underwritten by ARE, subject to 
adherence to acceptable underwriting tolerances. 

 
 MS Amlin Labuan: This business was established in 2013 to carry out reinsurance business 

principally made up of excess of loss and proportional business geographically located in East and 
South East Asia. The business was placed into run-off in early 2018. 

 

 Amber Re: This is the name given to the intragroup reinsurance contracts provided to Syndicate 
2001.  

 

3.3 External auditors 

The external auditors are KPMG AG, Switzerland. The company address is: 

KPMG AG 
Badenerstrasse 170  
CH-8004 Zurich 
Switzerland 

3.4 Significant unusual events 
 

There are no significant unusual events to note. 
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4.  Performance 
 
In the following sections we have summarised information about MS Amlin AG’s income statement, 
including underwriting and financial performance. Please note that the income statement as disclosed in 
Appendix 1, and in the following sections, is based on MS Amlin AG’s IFRS annual report for the year ended 
31 December 2017. Please also note that the IFRS Annual Report is re-mapped to the FCR format, which 
follows the Aufsichtsverordnung (AVO)-FINMA. This mainly impacts the following Income Statement line 
items: ‘Other insurance income’, ‘Reinsurers' share of acquisition costs and administrative expenses’ and 
‘Other technical expenses own business’. 

The format used is the FCR Standard Template translated into English and is disclosed in Appendix 1. The 
values are shown in USD. The IFRS annual report is also prepared in USD.  

4.1 Underwriting performance: 
 
2017 continued to see soft market conditions and increased non traditional capital which impacted both rate 
and retention. The highly competitive trading environment and the resulting impact on written selections, 
saw gross written premiums fall from USD 1,363 million to USD 1,328 million in 2017. 
  
The majority of gross written premiums in 2017 related to business opportunities in Property (56%), Motor 
(19%) and Casualty (11%). Over the past two years there has been a strategic shift towards longtailed 
classes given the downward pressure on the pricing of property catastrophe exposed business. Whilst 
Gross premium written has reduced, earned premium has increased as prior years unearned premium on 
longer term or multi-year contracts has earned through. 
 
Claims have been heavily impacted by the significant number of catastrophe losses including Hurricanes 
Irma, Harvey and Maria, the Mexican earthquake, the California wildfires and Cyclone Debbie. There were 
also a number of large losses impacting the result including the Adnoc Refinery and the Grenfell fire. MS 
Amlin AG was impacted through the direct portfolio (AB and ARE) and also through Amber Re.  
 
The outwards reinsurance programme for 2017 provided effective protection to the catastrophe losses and 
the net retentions were well within expectations for this significant number of loss events, placing the 
Company in a strong position against peers.  
 
Furthermore underwriting performance saw deterioration on the underlying prior year claims ratio most 
notably in AB on Property Proportional and Casualty classes but also as a result of foreign exchange driven 
by the weakening USD. Zurich was impacted by further deterioration on Ogden reserves following the initial 
increases in 2016 following the UK Government announcement on reduced discount rates.  Amber Re was 
impacted by deteriorations across several Casualty lines for both UK and International business.  

The table below shows the main components of MS Amlin AG’s technical result. For further details please 
refer to Appendix 1 which includes the income statement split by relevant class of business. 
 
 2017 

$m 
2016 

$m 

Gross premium written 1,328 1,363 

Net premiums written 1,198 1,279 

Net premiums earned 1,218  1,190 

Other insurance income 0   0  

Total technical income 1,221  1,190 

Net claims and claim expenses incurred (1,212)  (816) 

Net acquisition costs and administrative expenses  (350)    (322) 

Other technical expenses own business 0    0  

Total technical result (344)  51   

Claims ratio 100% 69% 

Expense ratio 29% 27% 

Combined ratio 128% 96% 
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4.2 Financial Performance 
 
In MS Amlin AG’s IFRS annual report net investment return amounted  to USD 111.6m for the year ended 
31 December 2017.  
 
Finance costs amounting to USD 1.9m and mainly related to the cost of administion of Letters of Credit 
(LOC’s) to support the US business. 
 
Overall net investment return of USD 111.6m increased by 339.2% during 2017 compared to 2016 driven by 
strong market conditions. The  realised gains on equity securities of USD 59.4m and unrealised gains of 
USD 35.7m was the main driver due to the strong performance on the major equity markets compared to 
prior year.  
 
The table below shows the main components of MS Amlin AG’s net investment return by asset class. For 
further details please refer to Appendix 1. 
 

  
2017 

$’000 
2016 

$’000 

Investment income     
– dividend income   17,640        18,394  
– interest income   9,602         8,032  
– cash and cash equivalents interest income   1,571            692  
   28,813        27,118  
Net realised gains/(losses) on assets held for trading     
– equity securities   59,366         8,827  
– debt securities   70,644        11,105  
– property funds   (10)       (6,427) 
– derivative instruments   (36,927)    (31,289) 
– derivative instruments relating to the Company’s contracts with Tramline Re Ltd and 
Tramline Re II Ltd   

 (16,500)  (21,992) 
 

on assets classified as other than trading     
– participation in investment pools   4,044            225  
   80,617     (39,551) 
Net unrealised gains/(losses) on assets held for trading      
– equity securities   35,715         7,297 
– debt securities   (48,186)        9,873 
– property funds   13,339        11,016  
– derivative instruments   420         9,856 
on assets classified as other than trading      
– participation in investment pools  884          (199) 
   2,172        37,843 
Net Income  111,602        25,410  

 
Please note that the numbers shown above reflect the investment income by asset category, as presented 
in the MS Amlin AG IFRS annual report (please see Appendix 3).   

4.3 Profits & Losses recognized directly in Equity 
 
The following four line items are directly recognized in Equity and total USD 10.1m in the IFRS Annual 
Report Statement of Other Comprehensive income (Appendix 3): 
 

 USD 10.5m of foreign exchange losses on translation of the Zurich operation; 
 USD -0.4m regarding the defined benefit pension fund losses;  
 USD 0.1m charge for deferred tax relating to items that will not be reclassified; and 
 USD -0.1m charge for market movements in unlisted equities. 
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4.4 Other material income and expenses 

Other operating expenses amount to USD 107.6m during 2017. The other operating expenses remained 
stable compared to prior year USD 108.0m.  
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5. Corporate Governance and Risk Management 

5.1 Overview of Corporate Governance  

5.1.1 Corporate Governance Framework 

MS Amlin AG’s governance framework is based on the following underlying principles:  

 accountability;  

 transparency;  

 integrity; and  

 focus on the sustainable success of the Company over the long term. 

MS Amlin AG’s operating structure follows a strategic business unit model, whereby MS Amlin AG is fully 
aligned to the Reinsurance SBU.  

Consolidated, group-wide support functions support both MS Amlin AG and the RI SBU. The principles 
underpinning the organisational structure are to: 

 facilitate client intimacy to enable profitable growth; 

 enable greater efficiency and minimal duplication of effort; and 

 ensure strong management control and oversight and more consistent application of service and 
oversight processes. 

The governance framework in MS Amlin AG ensures: 

 sufficient review and challenge of decision making processes; 

 the responsibilities and interests of all stakeholders are appropriately considered; and 

 appropriate reporting, of both frequency and content, to enable the Executive and Supervisory 
Boards to exercise adequate oversight over the business activities. 

5.1.2 System of Corporate Governance in MS Amlin AG 

The Company operates a two tier board governance structure with the Supervisory Board made up of  Non-
Executive directors who are not actively engaged in the management of the Company, of which two shall be 
independent of the Company.  
 
The Executive Board is the Company’s managing body and shall consist of the Chief Executive Officer and 
other senior officers and managers of the Company. These appointments are at the discretion of the 
Supervisory Board. 
 
The Supervisory Board also appoints Board Committees for specific purposes from among its members. 
Currently these committees comprise: 

 the Risk and Solvency Committee; 

 the Audit Committee; and 

 the Nomination Committee. 

 
The Supervisory Board and Executive Board are responsible for the governance of MS Amlin AG. The 
responsibilities of these boards include:  

 setting strategic aims;  

 providing the leadership and oversight to implement strategy; 

 supervising the management of the business; and 

 reporting to the shareholder on their stewardship.  
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The following is in place for MS Amlin AG: 

 matters reserved for the Supervisory Board’s decision ensure it has sufficient oversight and control 
over certain business decisions and activities;  

 roles and terms of reference of the committees of the Supervisory Board – Risk and Solvency, Audit 
and Nomination Committees;  

 Board and Committee agendas, and related reporting, comprising of both standing quarterly 
requirements and items to be covered over the course of a year; and 

 a minimum frequency of Board and Committee meetings; monthly for the Executive Board,  
quarterly for the Supervisory Board, the Risk and Solvency Committee and the Audit Committee and 
annually for the Nomination Committee. 

5.1.3 Board membership 

The Supervisory Board of Directors as at 31 December 2017 was composed of the following non-executive 
members: 

Name Board Position 

Martin Albers Chairman 

Stefan Materne Director 

Martin Burke Director 

Robin Adam Director 

Richard Hextall left the Supervisory Board of directors during 2017. 
 
 
The Executive Board of Directors as at 31 December 2017 was composed of the following members: 

Name Chief and Senior Executive Position 

Gregoire Mauchamp Chief Executive Officer 

Kate McDonald Chief Financial Officer 

Catherine Farnworth Chief Risk Officer 

Robert Wyatt Chief Executive Officer, MS Amlin Bermuda 

Piero da Camino Soligo Head of Compliance - Reinsurance 

There were several changes throughout the year: 

 Kate McDonald replaced Yvonne Poster as the Chief Financial Officer; 

 Catherine Farnworth replaced Piero da Camino Soligo as Chief Risk Officer; and 

 Piero da Camino Soligo became Head of Compliance – Reinsurance. 
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5.2 Overview of Risk Management 
 
The main objectives of MS Amlin AG’s combined assurance initiatives are to: 

 Deliver a joined up approach to risk identification, assessment, mitigation and reporting; 

 Increase efficiency and effectiveness by preventing gaps, overlaps and duplication in assurance 
activity; and 

 Promote risk management and its assurance as an integrated process across all business areas 
and locations. 

5.2.1 Risk Management Strategy 

MS Amlin AG’s vision and core values provide the strategic focus for the risk management system to deliver 
“effective risk management which optimises return for the risks we take” with the objective to deliver long-
term value. This is achieved by actively seeking and accepting risk while managing that risk within 
acceptable bounds. 

This framework has four key elements: 

 Governance from Boards, Risk Committee and the accountability of management; 

 Risk policy and clarity of risk appetite and tolerances; 

 Risk identification and assessment; and 

 Reporting processes to drive action and enhancement of MS Amlin AG’s management of its risks. 

5.2.2 Risk Management Framework 

MS Amlin AG has developed a Risk Management Policy committed to establishing and maintaining a 
sustainable enterprise risk management process as an integral part of its business model supporting 
business planning, capital management and decision making in the business. The Policy is intended to 
provide transparency, and define ownership, and responsibilities throughout the risk management process 
as well as create a risk aware culture across the organization. 
 
To supplement and fulfil the needs of the Policy, a Risk Management Framework has been developed and 
documented which provides: 

 A strong, risk based organisation, supported by an appropriate risk management system; 

 A robust governance framework supporting its organisational structure;  

 Clear roles and responsibilities and effective escalation processes; 

 Effective monitoring; and 

 Clear and effective communication and reporting lines.  

MS Amlin AG’s Risk Management Framework consists of a suite of standards, governance processes and 
procedures that put risk management into practice. It is built into the core operating model of the business 
and forms part of the overall approach to internal control. It provides the infrastructure within risk governance 
and also sets out the processes required to sustain risk management across the business.  

5.2.3 Risk Management Methods and Processes 

Risk Governance 

The operation of effective risk management requires the active involvement of all employees and the 
responsibility for each risk has been clearly allocated within the Company.  

MS Amlin AG operates risk management through a ‘three lines of defence’ model. 

 First line – all employees are expected to be risk aware and exercise controls over their 
activities so that levels of risk are understood and managed appropriately; 
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 Second line - MS Amlin AG’s Risk function is responsible for the design and coordination of 
the risk framework architecture, with the Compliance function additionally supporting 
regulatory risk; 

 Third line - MS Amlin’s Internal Audit function is independent and has direct reporting to the 
MS Amlin AG Audit Committee. The function has responsibility for the review of the 
effectiveness of controls. 

The Boards and the Risk and Solvency Committee receive reports from the Risk function that escalate risk 
areas of concern.  

Risk Appetite and Tolerances 

A key objective of the Risk Management Framework is to establish risk appetites for all areas of risk 
identified. This appetite is implemented through a set of tolerances or limits which are approved by the Risk  
and Solvency Committee and the Supervisory Board. Management is accountable for managing levels of 
risk within the allocated tolerances. The status of profile versus tolerance is reported quarterly to the Risk 
Committee. 

Risk Categorisation 

MS Amlin AG groups its risks into six key categories as specified below. Accordingly, the Risk Management 
Framework has been designed to take account of these risk categories and seeks to ensure ownership and 
accountability. 

Each of these categories of risk is owned by an Executive Board member with appropriate expertise and 
authority over the risks being managed on a day to day basis. Further details on the roles, responsibilities, 
accountabilities, and key mitigation actions of each risk category are documented in six category-based risk 
standards that are reviewed and approved by the Board each year. 

 

Risk category  

Owner 

High Level Overview Scope 

Insurance Risk 
(Chief Executive Officer, MS 
Amlin Bermuda and Head of 
Reinsurance EMEA) 

Risk from the inherent uncertainties in the 
occurrence, amount and timing of insurance 
liabilities and premiums. This includes reserving risk 
or claims arising on business written in prior years. 

 Premiums 
 Underwriting including 

catastrophes 
 Reserving  
 Claims  

Market Risk  
(Chief Financial Officer) 

Risk from fluctuations in values of, or income from, 
assets, interest rates and investment returns. 

 Investment market volatility 
 Currency fluctuation 

Credit Risk  
(Chief Financial Officer) 

Risk of counterparties failing to perform their 
obligations in a timely manner or at all. 

 Retrocessionaires 
 Brokers, 
 Cedants 
 Banks and Investment 

counterparties  
Liquidity Risk  
(Chief Financial Officer) 

Risk of insufficient financial resources being 
available to meet liabilities as they fall due. 

 All assets 

Operational & Group Risk  
(Chief Executive Officer) 

Risk from inadequate or failed internal processes, 
people and systems, or from external events. 
 

 Systems and Technology 
 Processes 
 People 

Legal & Regulatory 

Strategic Risk & Group Risk 
(Chief Executive Officer) 

Risk of the current and prospective impact on 
earnings or capital arising from adverse business 
decisions, improper implementation of decisions or 
lack of responsiveness to industry changes.  
 
Risks that may arise as a result of Group structure. 

 Group 
 Strategic 
 Political & economic 
 Conduct 
 Capital Management   
 Merger & Acquisition 
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Three risk categories (Insurance, Credit and Market Risk) are managed using capital against the residual 
risk and are included within the Internal Model for the SST. 

Liquidity Risk and Operational Risk are measured through stress and scenario testing and have tolerances 
set against them, although explicit risk charges are not included within the SST Target Capital. 

Strategic risks such as reputational and political risks are on the whole not directly considered within the 
capital model but managed rather through the use of management actions, contingency plans, policies, 
processes and robust preventative and detective business process controls. 

Linkage to Capital Management 

MS Amlin AG has an Internal Model which has been built to reflect the economic risk variables which could 
impact the performance of the Company. The MS Amlin AG Supervisory Board has confirmed that the 
Internal Model is the appropriate method for the calculation of solvency capital under the requirements of the 
Swiss Solvency Test and the Internal Model has been provided temporary partial approval by the 
supervisory regulator, FINMA. The Internal Model is a core component of the risk management system and 
is used for a range of business decisions including setting and assessing risk tolerances and purchase of 
outwards reinsurance, and is a key input into the technical pricing framework. 

Capital is a key consideration in setting business plans and strategies. Economic capital assessment 
provides the basis of risk adjusted performance for business plans. 

Alignment to Business Strategy 

MS Amlin AG’s risk management objectives seek to bring business strategy, capital management, and 
enterprise risk management together to achieve long-term sustainable outcomes for all stakeholders. 

This approach allows the business to maximise its return on risk where there is opportunity to, subject to 
limitations over acceptable risk taking. This is done through the adoption of risk appetites and tolerances 
that link closely to the return objectives set by the Board. 

5.2.4 Internal Control System implemented in the Company 

The Internal Control Framework (ICF) Team was established in 2016 and has been in operation throughout 
2017. Oversight of internal control is performed by the Risk Management function as part of a combined risk 
and control process as the ICF team recently integrated with the Risk function.  
 
The ICF team was initially established to strengthen the oversight of the control framework and to help meet 
the Japanese Financial Services Agency requirements and standards for Internal Control over Financial 
Reporting, commonly termed “J-SOX”. MS Amlin AG became in-scope for these requirements following the 
takeover by MSI. Compliance with the entirety of the standards was phased in over a 24-month period 
ending 31 December 2017. As at year end 2017, the control framework is considered embedded and 
functioning effectively.  

The focus up to now has been on building a solid foundation for supporting the internal control framework, 
and to progress the JSOX compliance programme. Activities that were carried out to date include: 

 Implementation and roll out of a new Risk & Controls software platform; 

 A cleanse of existing key controls (to remove redundancy and improve control attributes  and 
documentation); 

 Staff training on internal controls; 

 The development of an enhanced control self-certification process; 

 Control attestation quality assurance programme; 

 Building working relationships with the 1st, 2nd and 3rd lines, including feedback loops; 

 Design and implementation of a fraud risk management framework; 

 Improved committee and management reporting; and 

 Compliance with J-SOX company level controls requirements. 
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From Q2 2017 onwards, the new Risk & Control software platform has been used to support the internal 
control framework. 

The ICF team and the wider Risk Management function report directly into the MS Amlin AG Executive 
Board, MS Amlin Risk & Solvency Committee and MS Amlin AG Audit Committee. Actions to remedy 
ineffective controls are agreed with management and are tracked and reported to these committees on a 
quarterly basis. This governance arrangement allows access to key stakeholders to ensure that, where 
necessary, appropriate oversight and remediation take place. 

In 2018, effort will be focussed to refine key internal controls. There is a detailed plan in place that will 
challenge the appropriateness of the key risks, their drivers and the key controls that mitigate them. This 
approach will identify potential gaps in the completeness of the key control library, as well as controls that 
are not considered to be key in mitigating the risk drivers. This programme of work will involve all three lines 
of defence and for most risks the project will conclude by the end of 2018. 

In addition to the above enhancements, the ICF function has recently integrated with the Risk function. The 
new structure is expected to facilitate better linkage between key internal controls and key risks, resulting in 
more effective assurance effort, with better integrated reporting to key stakeholders. 

5.2.5 Compliance and Internal Audit Functions 

Compliance function 
 
The Company has a dedicated Compliance function as part of its management structure. The role of the 
Compliance function is to provide assurance to the Executive and Supervisory Boards that the Company 
complies with all regulatory requirements, associated laws, and relevant internal policies. The Compliance 
function reports to the MS Amlin AG Audit Committee regarding progress against the Compliance Plan and 
Compliance Monitoring. The Compliance function also reports to the MS Amlin AG Risk Committee on 
regulatory returns, integrity risks and regulatory updates. 
 
Internal Audit function 

The Internal Audit function is a centralised group function servicing MS Amlin AG. Its independence and 
objectivity are guaranteed through direct reporting lines to the MS Amlin AG Audit Committee and 
Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board has delegated its responsibility for overseeing the internal audit 
activity to its Audit Committee. The Internal Audit function’s programme of work is based on an annual audit 
plan compiled by the Chief Internal Auditor and presented to the MS Amlin AG Audit Committee for approval 
annually. 

5.2.6 Changes in risk management during the period 
 
During 2017 there was focus on embedding the new Risk Assessment Process that was introduced in late 
2016. This involved two distinct approaches: 
 
1. Periodic Risk Reviews 
 
Regular risk management engagement meetings based on a flexible agenda with focus on aspects such as:  

 Understanding changes in risk profile and emerging risks; 
 Risk event remediation; 
 Improving business resilience; and 
 Embedding the Risk Management Framework. 

 
2. Deep Dive Assessments 
 
In depth reviews of various topics that consider all aspects of risk and risk management practices, including: 

 Identification of material causes and drivers of risk; 
 Evaluation of stress, scenario and reverse stress testing, including management actions; 
 Assessment of emerging risks; and 
 Assessment of risk mitigation effectiveness. 

 



 

     

30 April 2018  © MS Amlin  18 / 40 
  For publication  Final 

During 2017 there were several deep dives completed in relation to MS Amlin AG, including reviews of the 
Tolerance Framework, Technical Pricing, Investments, Claims Function, Regulatory Risk and Recovery  & 
Resolution plans. 
  
These new risk assessment processes were supported by the introduction of a new risk management and 
reporting software platform during Q2 2017. This tool is used to maintain the Risk Register including ratings 
and linked controls, to report Risk Events and to support the control attestation process.  
 
The Risk Assessment Process will continue in its exisiting form for 2018, with priorities for the year including 
more focused Deep Dive Assessments and increased embedding of the use new software platform for more 
meaningful and efficient reporting and data quality. 
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6. Risk Profile 
MS Amlin AG is exposed to six main categories of risk: Insurance, Credit, Market, Liquidity, Operational and 
Strategic risk. Three risk categories (Insurance, Credit and Market Risk) are managed using capital against 
the residual risk and are included within the Internal Model. 

The MS Amlin AG Risk function works closely with business functions and senior management to identify, 
assess and monitor risk profiles throughout the year. This section summarises the key risk profile 
movements throughout the year, the current key risk concerns and outlines the mitigating actions being 
taken by management in response to these risks. 

6.1 Quantitative & Qualitative Information about Risk Profile 

6.1.1 Insurance Risk 

MS Amlin AG seperates Insurance Risk into the following two key sub-risks: 
 Premium Risk: Relates to the risk of inadequate pricing, inappropriate terms and conditions, 

and unexpected level and/or frequency of losses; and 
 Reserving Risk: The risk of inadequate reserving. 

 
Underwriting Risk 
 
Risk Definition and Appetite 
 
Premium Risk relates to unexpected losses on its active portfolio which can be caused by inadequate 
pricing, inappropriate terms and conditions and/or unexpected claims frequency, and catastrophe losses 
from large natural or non-elemental events such as earthquake, hurricane or terrorism threats. 
 
MS Amlin AG has a positive attitude to Premium Risk and accepts that there will be claims arising from all 
areas of its insurance risk profile. The appetite for risk is governed by the amount of business that meets our 
pricing requirements but also by the capacity determined by available capital base and outwards 
reinsurance arrangements. 
 
MS Amlin AG aims to achieve a diversified balance of exposures across lines of business and territories. 
 

 Catastrophe - MS Amlin AG has an extensive portfolio of property reinsurance business that has 
significant concentration exposure to natural perils as well as non-elemental perils such as industrial 
accidents. 

 Attritional - MS Amlin AG is exposed to attritional losses caused by inadequate pricing and/or 
unexpected claims frequency as well as systemic change in the nature of claims. The development of 
external competition for business impacts this risk. As the downward trend in the pricing cycle leads to 
lower margins, the risk increases, although underwriters are expected to take action if pricing is 
unacceptable. The nature of this risk can also develop due to underlying exposure changes such as the 
development of cyber risk exposure within the business underwritten. 

Risk Concentration and Changes over the year 

The scale of risk concentration is identified through the use of market standard methodologies; 

 Stochastic Modelling – MS Amlin AG utilises exposure data to feed its underwriting and internal 
model that aggregates the risk concentration, taking account of inherent exposure and the benefit of 
the associated mitigation strategies. Modelling takes place on a single Occurrence Exceedance 
Probability basis as well as at an Aggregated Exceedance Probability basis. 

 Realistic Disaster Scenarios (“RDS”) - Specific event scenarios are monitored and controlled 
accordingly. RDS’s are run for MS Amlin AG each quarter. The RDSs cover both modelled and non-
modelled classes as well as natural and man-made perils, also taking account of single occurrence and 
multi occurrence events. 
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 Line Guide Monitoring – Large loss concentration is identified through line size monitoring across 
classes. 

Premium Risk concentration is derived from: 

 Natural perils such as windstorm or earthquake; 

 Large losses from man-made events such as terrorism, cyber or industrial accidents; and 

 Correlated Liability coverage, such as professional liability coverage for medical practice. 

Within natural perils, the most material concentrations are made up of natural catastrophe exposures as 
follows:  

 US Windstorm - particularly North East, Gulf of Mexico, and Florida; 

 US Earthquake - particularly California; and 

 Concentrations to European, Australasian and Japanese perils. 

As at 1 January 2018, MS Amlin AG quantified its Premium Risk as USD 743.3m on a stand-alone SST 
basis. 

Catastrophe Risk is the main source of Underwritying Risk for MS AAG. Catastrophe exposures have been 
reducing through the year. In particular, exposures for AB Catastrophe US class, which is the class with the 
largest catastrophe exposure, has reduced. This has mainly been caused by the continued reduction of the 
legacy MS Frontier business which wrote high layer catastrophe business that does not meet the MS Amlin 
risk appetite. There have also been changes to the modelling of Catastrophe risk over the last year.  

Assessment, Monitoring & Mitigation Techniques 

The business looks to mitigate exposure through the application of strategies, processes and controls. The 
key mitigation techniques are: 

 Outwards reinsurance - The main instrument for risk mitigation of Insurance Risk is the use of 
outwards reinsurance. Reinsurance treaties are purchased for the RI SBU which includes MS Amlin 
AG; 

 Strategy and business planning - As part of business planning, strategy is developed into plans for 
the coming year. This allows the business to develop plans that incorporate the best return on capital 
versus risk concentration and allows for the planning of diversification within the portfolio; 

 Tolerance setting and monitoring - The setting of tolerances is closely linked to strategy and 
business planning. Stochastic Modelling and RDSs are utilised to set and monitor exposure to 
catastrophe perils against tolerance for both single and annual aggregate loss using proprietary 
catastrophe model output and netted down for reinsurance in the Internal Model. Results are reported 
to the Risk and Solvency Committee for consideration in decision making on a quarterly basis; 

 Technical pricing - Takes account of hazards so that premiums are adequate and exposures are 
contained within tolerances; and 

 Policies, procedures and standards - Underwriting policies and standards assure consistency and 
control across underwriting activities. 

 

Reserving Risk  
 
Risk Definition and Appetite 
 
Reserving Risk relates to the possible inadequacy of claims provisions. Specifically, it relates to the 
uncertainty around whether reserves are adequately accounted for, taking account of fluctuations in claim 
settlements. 
 
MS Amlin AG adopts a balanced approach to Reserving Risk, which is an unavoidable consequence of 
underwriting a portfolio of business where claims may develop after the policy period has elapsed. Our 
appetite is governed by a policy which ensures that reserves are carried above the actuarial best estimate of 
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future outcomes. Classes with a higher level of uncertainty of potential development will naturally carry a 
higher level of reserve provision. 
 

Risk Concentration and Changes over the year 

Reserving Risk concentrations are the accumulation of assumed claims and the uncertainty associated with 
the ultimate size of the claims given the extended duration it can take for some claims to mature. Liability 
classes are considered as the primary drivers of reserve risk. 

MS Amlin AG operates an actuarial led reserving process to estimate the reserves on a Best Estimate basis. 
Reserving Risk exposures and concentrations are identified through the use of the Internal Model. Volatility 
in forecast reserve requirements are monitored on a quarterly basis.  

Naturally there is uncertainty associated with the calculation of the reserves with the key sources of the 
uncertainty relating to ultimate claims on an underwriting year basis. MS Amlin AG’s Internal Model 
produces a full distribution of possible reserving outcomes with the intention of capturing the uncertainty in 
the reserves. Expert judgement is applied during parameterisation to ensure that the final results from the 
Internal Model appropriately reflect MS Amlin AG’s risk profile. 

As at 1 January 2018, MS Amlin AG quantified its Reserving Risk as USD 441.9m on a stand-alone SST 
basis. 

Reserve Risk increased over the last year driven by an increase in the reserve amounts as at year end 
2017. The increase in reserve amount is mainly caused by the catastrophe events in 2017. 

Assessment, Monitoring & Mitigation Techniques 

The key mitigation strategies, processes and controls are as follows: 

 Actuarial reserving process - MS Amlin AG operates a consistent, actuarially driven process each 
quarter to assess the appropriateness of reserves held, taking account of the characteristics and risks 
of each class of business. The best estimates are subject to challenge and review by management; 

 Reinsurance programme - responds to large loss developments from prior years. 

 Tolerance setting and monitoring - requires a minimum probability of carried reserves being in 
excess of liabilities. This is tracked as a key actuarial metric that is monitored quarterly to assess that 
appropriate levels of reserves are carried, taking account of the characteristics and risks of each class 
of business; and 

 Claims Policy and process - consistent claims processes and accurate case reserve setting aim to 
ensure that adequate provision is established for advised claims. 

6.1.2 Market Risk 

Risk Definition and Appetite 

MS Amlin AG seeks to optimise its investment income whilst focusing on ensuring it maintains sufficient 
capital to meet solvency requirements and maintain sufficient liquid funds to meet liabilities when they fall 
due. Exposure to Market Risk is therefore limited to the extent that investment strategies are balanced by 
these primary objectives.  
 
MS Amlin AG considers the following risks as two of the key drivers of market risk: 

 Investment Market Volatility: This is the risk of loss resulting from fluctuations or volatility of 
market assets and financial instrument valuations, either directly or indirectly. MS Amlin AG has 
a positive attitude to Market Volatility Risk, constrained by a desire to limit the potential 
downside risk to the value of carried assets to within a maximum Value at Risk tolerance.  

 Currency fluctuation: This relates to the impact on the value of the balance sheet or on 
earnings arising from the movement in the value of USD against key non-functional currencies. 
MS Amlin AG has a balanced attitude towards Currency Risk, which is an unavoidable 
consequence of holding balance sheet assets, premiums and liabilities in currencies other than 
USD. This risk is managed by matching asset and liability currencies where possible. 
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Risk Concentration and Changes over the year 

Concentraition in Market Risk can result from holding disproportionate levels of assets in particular: 

 financial securities or asset classes; 

 foreign currencies; 

 banks or fund managers; or 

 political domiciles. 

MS Amlin AG recognises its exposure to all of these and has established mitigation strategies against such 
concentration exposure as described in the following sub sections.  

As at 1 January 2018 MS Amlin AG quantified its Market Risk as USD 249.0m on a stand-alone SST basis. 

There has been a reduction in market risk over the last year, driven by refinements to the modelling process 
for derivatives, improvements in asset liability matching and a reduction in overall assets. 

Assessment, Monitoring & Mitigation Techniques 

This section presents mitigation techniques specifically implemented for investment market volatility risk. 
Monitoring results are reported to the MS Amlin AG Risk Committee on a quarterly basis. 

 Investment policy and strategic asset allocation - aims to maximise long-term investment returns in 
relation to an agreed risk budget. 

 Asset Duration Management - Interest Rate Risk is managed relative to liabilities through the 
strategic asset allocation. 

 Tactical asset allocation - responds to expectations for short-term market prospects or volatility. 

 A diversified portfolio - limits exposure to any one security or asset class. 

 Tolerance, limit setting and performance monitoring - Stochastic Value at Risk Monitoring is 
utilised by the investment team through the modelling and monitoring of investment risk against agreed 
tolerance.  

 Sub-advisor monitoring - sub-advisors are appointed to carry out stock selection within the asset 
class they specialise in. Each sub-advisor has discretion to manage the funds within their Investment 
Guidelines. These are designed to ensure that their investments comply with agreed Investment 
Guidelines. Performance and compliance with mandates are monitored by the investment team. 

 Hedging - MS Amlin Investment Management actively manages Interest Rate Risk exposure and the 
level of equity exposure.   

6.1.3 Credit Risk 
 
MS Amlin AG seperates Credit Risk into the following three key sub-risks: 

 Reinsurance Counterparty Risk: The risk of loss if a reinsurance counterparty fails to fulfil its 
underwritten obligations; 

 Broker Credit Risk: The risk of loss if an insurance intermediary fails to follow MS Amlin AG's 
settlement instructions; and 

 Investment Counterparty Credit Risk: The risk of loss resulting from fluctuations in the 
credit standing of issuers of securities, counterparties and any debtors to which MS Amlin AG 
is exposed 

 
Reinsurance Counterparty Risk 

Risk Definition and Appetite 
 
Reinsurance purchase exposes the business to losses on recoveries, from either an inability or 
unwillingness to pay on the part of reinsurers. There is the risk of loss if a reinsurance counterparty fails to 
fulfil its underwritten obligations or fails to perform them in a timely fashion.  
 
MS Amlin AG has a balanced attitude appetite to Reinsurance Counterparty Credit Risk, which emanates 
from use of reinsurance to protect the company against severe catastrophic events and other scenarios. 
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Risk Concentration and Changes over the year 

Concentration risk is mitigated by controlling exposure to each reinsurer through the reinsurer accreditation 
process and application of exposure limits for each reinsurer, based on MS Amlin’s internal credit rating 
process.  
 
As at 1 January 2018 MS Amlin AG quantified its Credit Risk (Reinsurance and Broker Credit Risk 
combined, excluding Investment Credit Risk) as USD 60.4m on a stand-alone SST basis. 

The Credit Risk has reduced since last year due to a reduction in the amount of business internally ceded to 
MSI. 

Assessment, Monitoring & Mitigation Techniques 

The key mitigation strategies, processes and controls are as follows: 

 Selection management - The reinsurance security team conducts accreditation selection and rating of 
all reinsurers. 

 Reinsurer review process - Takes account of publicly available information such as rating agency 
input and financial statements.  

 Aggregate Exposure planning and monitoring - There are limits over exposure placed with any one 
reinsurer. This also takes account of RDS simulations and monitoring.  

 Collateralisation – Reinsurance credit risk is reduced through the purchase of collateralised 
reinsurance. 

 Claims management - MS Amlin AG’s Claims Management procedures ensure that every claim is 
reviewed to identify any potential recoveries and assess whether these can be pursued effectively. 

Broker Credit Risk 

Risk Definition and Appetite 
 
MS Amlin AG conducts business through brokers and directly with cedants meaning it is exposed to credit 
risk in respect of the following balances: inwards gross premium, outwards claims payments, outwards 
reinsurance premiums, and retro recoverables. There is the risk of loss if an insurance intermediary fails to 
follow MS Amlin AG's settlement instructions either at all, or in a timely fashion. 
 
MS Amlin AG has a balanced attitude appetite to Broker Credit Risk.  

Risk Concentration and Changes over the year 

Brokers need to both collect premiums and settle claims as part of their service. Risk concentration can 
occur as a result of accumulation of MS Amlin AG owned assets within insurance intermediaries, such as 
brokers, who may default or fail to settle transactions when instructed. We set limits according to broker 
financial strength to control exposure to each counterparty. 

As at 1 January 2018 MS Amlin AG quantified its Credit Risk (Reinsurance and Broker Risk combined, 
excluding Investment Credit Risk) as USD 60.4m on a stand-alone SST basis. There were no material 
movements relating to Broker Credit Risk. 

Assessment, Monitoring & Mitigation Techniques 

The key mitigation strategies, processes and controls are as follows: 

 On-boarding - Local broker committees are responsible for broker accreditation and on-boarding.  

 Broker review process - Takes account of the latest available full year financials, comparison with MS 
Amlin recommended standards, recent developments, and background information. 

 Policies, procedures and standards - Policies and standards are in place to explain the process of 
on-boarding, broker review, debt control, and claims management. 

 Tolerance, limit setting and performance monitoring - The business seeks to manage and monitor 
exposures to brokers by a number of risk tolerances across the risk category. 
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 Debt control - Broker debt credit control is carried out to limit outstanding balances owed by 
counterparties.  

 
Investment Counterparty Credit Risk 

Risk Definition and Appetite 
 
MS Amlin AG is exposed to Counterparty Credit Risk through investing in financial instruments such as 
bonds. MS Amlin AG defines Investment Counterparty Credit Risk as the risk of loss, or of adverse change 
in the financial situation, resulting from fluctuations in the credit standing of issuers of securities, 
counterparties and any debtors to which MS Amlin AG is exposed. There is a risk of loss to MS Amlin AG if 
its investment counterparties are unable to or are unwilling to meet their financial obligations or if they cease 
to operate as a business. Investment Credit Risk could therefore have an impact upon MS Amlin AG’s ability 
to meet its liabilities as they fall due and upon the investment return. 
 
MS Amlin has a positive appetite for Investment Counterparty Credit Risk as part of Market Risk but limits 
investment counterparty exposure through concentration limits. This risk is included within Market Risk. 

6.1.4 Operational Risk 

Risk Definition and Appetite 

MS Amlin AG operates a diverse business across several offices and jurisdictions and is expected to comply 
with legal, regulatory and best-practice standards. Operational Risk spans many risks including the potential 
failure of critical business processes, people or systems resulting in an interruption to normal operations. 
The failure of management to address performance issues may impact the level of, or potential for, 
Operational Risk. Natural or man-made disasters could impact MS Amlin AG’s operating platforms in one or 
more locations.  

Additionally, the significant increase in regulatory complexity over the past decade has increased the risk of 
regulatory breach or enforcement. Cyber Risk is also an increasing source of risk. 

MS Amlin AG has a negative attitude to Operational Risk and seeks to avoid any operational failures which 
may hinder the operational capability of MS Amlin AG, or result in financial loss, or any regulatory sanction 
for inadequate compliance. 

Risk Concentration and Changes over the year 

As a result of the broad scope of Operational Risk, MS Amlin AG has divided its concentrations into five 
subcategories;  

 People Risks 

 Process Risks 

 Systems and Technology Risks 

 Legal and Regulatory Risk 

 Group Structure Related Risks 

Risks are identified and assessed using a deterministic risk assessment process that requires engagement 
with the business periodically to assess current risks and issues, project risks, emerging risks and control 
adequacy. Deep dive assessments and other such assurance activities also seek to evaluate risks from a 
thematic perspective. 

  



 

     

30 April 2018  © MS Amlin  25 / 40 
  For publication  Final 

The key drivers of Operational Risk have been identified as follows: 
 

Rank MS Amlin AG Drivers of Operational Risk 
1:200 Net Loss  

($m) 

1 Legal risk 21.8 

2 Financial crime risk 21.4 

3 Systems and technology risk 13.2 

4 Underwriting operations risk 11.2 

5 Expense risk 8.3 

6 People risk 5.2 

7 Process risk 2.7 

8 Claims management risk 2.7 

9 Information & Cyber risk 2.5 

10 Business interruption risk 2.5 

 Legal Risk is prevalent, owing to the potential impact of large loss disputes or increasing potential for 
class action cases. The scenario considered assumes that the implications of a court decision materially 
alter the coverage landscape.   Underwriters for the particular class of business affected either do not 
exclude a particular peril or inappropriately rate the inwards business to ensure the risk is reflected by 
increased premium.  The assumption is that the renewals written for the forthcoming year are, therefore, 
underpriced and the class suffers a loss.   

 Financial Crime refers to the potential for fraud events which is increasing throughout the market; both 
in the size of the events and in terms of the materiality. This scenario assumes that an MS AAG 
underwriter for a particular class of business is found to be involved in a cartel involving price fixing, 
limiting the supply of services and sharing commercially sensitive information.  The scenario assumes 
the underwriter is acting alone and a competitor brought the cartel to the attention of the authorities, 
meaning MS AAG does not benefit from leniency. 

 Systems and technology Risk is increasingly recognised as an exposure requiring significant 
investment and remediation in the future to address vulnerabilities. The scenario reviewed assumes a 
loss to a data centre. 

 Underwriting operations Risk –In the scenario considered, an underwriter misunderstands the 
underwriting authorities in place and underwrites a risk outside their authority which suffers from insured 
losses. It is assumed that there is an uplift to insured losses as a result of operational risk factors. 

 Expense Risk - Within this scenario, fluctuations to operating costs as a result of poor expenses 
planning, allocation and ability to monitor effectively are included within the business plan. 

 People Risk – MS Amlin AG’s strategy is dependent on the retention of competent underwriters and 
key functional staff who are incentivised through remuneration schemes aligned with company 
performance. This scenario assumes that an underwriting team leave with their book of business to 
pursue opportunities at a competitor or start up.  

 Process Risk – This scenario assumes that despite the existence of current controls, an event causes 
a major outage of software leading up to 1 January renewals. It is assumed that an external consultancy 
is called in to get the software back online, to monitor it through renewals and to train internal staff to 
support the tool in the future. 

 Claims Management Risk – The Claims function often processes large claims where the scope for 
error, fraud or legal dispute could lead to large losses. This scenario assumes a large event occurs 



 

     

30 April 2018  © MS Amlin  26 / 40 
  For publication  Final 

where a high concentration of claims are being made and the details of one particular large claim are 
incorrectly logged.  

 Information and Cyber Risk - This scenario considers a cyber breach, despite the existence of a Third 
Party on-boarding process to identify and mitigate risk when providing network access or data.  

 Business Interruption Risk – It is recognised that MS Amlin AG is exposed to perils that could result in 
disruption to the business model. Losses could be driven by the impact on business during renewal 
periods as well as costs associated with operating a mitigation strategy and re-establishing operations. 
This scenario assumes that, despite the existence of current controls, an event prevents us from using 
the Hamilton office for a long duration of time. 

There were no material changes to the Operational Risk in the last year. 

Assessment, Monitoring & Mitigation Techniques 

The key mitigation strategies, processes and controls are as follows: 

 Risk Management Framework - The implementation of a framework for the identification, assessment 
and control of operational risks ensures that these risks are understood and managed by the business. 

 Policies, Procedures & Standards – The Operational Risk Standard ensures all significant 
operational risks are identified, assessed, managed, monitored and reported to relevant stakeholders.  

 Policy Framework - A policy framework is in place to apply control over people matters, key business 
processes, business continuity, data quality, information security, outsourcing, procurement and other 
key risk areas. 

 Internal Control Framework – A framework measures operation of key controls in day to day 
operations and evaluates the effectiveness of managing Operational Risk. 

 Risk Events & Near Miss Capture – The Company monitors risk events in order to raise awareness, 
identify areas for improvement and drive remedial response.  

 Assurance Monitoring - An established assurance plan including Compliance, Risk and Internal Audit 
plan, seeks to identify both general and regulatory vulnerabilities. 

 Scenario Analyses - are used to determine the level of regulatory and economic capital required to 
support the level of operational risk charge within the business. 

 Insurance - is acquired to recover from financial losses where appropriate. 

6.1.5 Other Material Risks 

Strategic Risk 
Risk Definition and Appetite 

Strategic Risks are defined as risks to current and prospective earnings or capital arising from adverse 
business decisions, improper implementation of decisions or lack of responsiveness to industry changes. 
This includes risks associated with the appropriateness of business strategy in the face of the current and 
future commercial, political, legislative, and economic environment.  

MS Amlin AG has a positive attitude to Strategic Risk as it actively pursues ways of developing the 
business. The Company also faces a number of external factors which may impact demand for or supply of 
products. These risks are analysed and actions agreed to adapt the strategic approach to cater for them. 

Risk Concentration and Changes over the year 

MS Amlin AG sees Strategic Risk concentration derived from: 

 Group Risk - MS Amlin AG is a subsidiary of MS Amlin plc and also the wider MS&AD group. There is 
a risk that losses in other parts of the MS&AD group of companies may impact the ability of MS Amlin 
AG to execute its strategy. 
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 Strategy Setting - The development of strategic objectives is carried out by MS Amlin AG senior 
executives and approved by MS Amlin AG's Supervisory Board. The strategy is fundamental to the 
development of MS Amlin AG's market share, brand, reputation, underwriting aims, and the fulfilment of 
the expectations of its shareholder and other interested parties.  

 Political and Economic Factors - MS Amlin AG is exposed to political uncertainty and resulting 
instability that could affect the delivery of MS Amlin AG's strategy or the provision of its products and 
services. This could crystallise as a result of political decisions, events or conditions. 

Assessment, Monitoring & Mitigation Techniques 

The key mitigation and monitoring consist of: 

 Strategy Alignment - MS Amlin AG’s strategic objectives and decisions take account of the 
expectations of the ultimate parent company, MS&AD. There is communication of MS Amlin AG’s 
business plans and strategic requirements to MS Amlin plc, including capital needs, regulatory 
requirements and risks.  

 Culture - MS Amlin AG's culture and strategic objectives take account of client needs and 
expectations. 

 Strategy Commitment - There is resource commitment to support the duration of the executed 
strategy. Strategies have flexible re-directive decision points in their plan. 

 Market Monitoring - Horizon scanning takes place often, decisions take account of current market 
environment and are made in a structured, governed manner by subject matter experts. 

 Governed Decision Making - Capital requirements are fully assessed taking account of all 
requirements and risk acceptance is undertaken within a controlled manner. 

 Capital Management - Aggregate risk exposure is continually monitored against available capital, and 
responses would be made if solvency ratios began to deteriorate. Contingency and resilience plans are 
developed to manage adverse capital events. 

6.2 Material risk exposures 

6.2.1 Exposure to Material Off Balance Sheet positions 
 
MS Amlin AG doesn’t have any exposure to material off balance sheet positions. 
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7. Valuation 
 

7.1 Market Consistent Asset Valuation for solvency purposes 

7.1.1 Value of assets broken down by asset class (as per breakdown 
in quantitative templates) 

 
The market-consistent balance sheet as disclosed in the FCR Standard Template (Appendix 1) is based on 
MS Amlin AG’s SST balance sheet and is re-mapped to the FCR format. Please note that SST 2018 was 
filed with FINMA on 30 April 2018 simultaneously to this document. 
 
The market consistent value of capital assets of MS Amlin AG amounts to USD 5,103.5m as of 31  
December 2017. Capital assets mainly consist of fixed-interest securities, shares and other investments as 
well as the loan to MS Amlin plc of USD 230.5m. 
 
The market consistent value of other assets of MS Amlin AG amounts to USD 1,827.4m as of 31 December 
2017. They mainly consist of receivables from insurance business, liquid assets and other receivables. 

7.1.2 Description of basis and methods used for valuation 
 
The starting point for the FCR balance sheet is the SST which captures the market consistent value of 
assets. SST figures are re-mapped to the FCR Standard Template (Appendix 1). 
 
The market consistent SST valuation method on capital assets is based on IFRS fair values used in the MS 
Amlin AG IFRS annual reports included in Appendix 3.  
 
The financial data used in preparing the FCR balance sheet originates from the MS Amlin financial reporting 
system and is as of 31 December 2017. This data is used for the production of the MS Amlin AG 
consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS. 

7.1.3 Discrepancies between asset valuation for solvency and annual 
report 

 
Please note that there are no asset valuation discrepancies between MS Amlin AG’s FCR (i.e. SST) and 
IFRS annual report. Differences in presentation are as follows: 

 Reinsurance share of insurance provisions: This is re-mapped under liabilities in the FCR Standard 
Template whereas it is classified as an asset in our IFRS annual report. Reinsurance share of 
insurance provisions amounts to USD 254.3m (under solvency USD 247.4m due to a discounting effect 
of USD -6.9m) as of 31 December 2017. 

7.2 Market Consistent Valuation of Provisions for Insurance 
Obligations for Solvency 

7.2.1 Gross & Net Value of the provisions for insurance obligations 
 
The net insurance provisions for MS Amlin AG amount to USD 2,895.1m as of 31 December 2017. They 
mainly consist of loss reserves and Unearned Premium Reserves. 
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7.2.2 Description of basis, methods and key assumptions used in the 
valuation for insurance obligations 

 

MS Amlin AG’s (gross and net) reserves are discounted in order to reflect discounted best estimate values 
required in a market consistent view. The discounting adjustment is calculated using various actuarial 
assumptions including those on payment patterns, and also using the FINMA yield curves. 

7.2.3 Discrepancies between valuation for solvency and annual report 
for insurance obligations 

 
Please note the differences in presentation and valuation discrepancies between MS Amlin AG’s FCR (i.e. 
SST) and IFRS annual report are as follows:  
 

 Reserve Discounting Adjustment: under IFRS loss reserves are on an undiscounted basis, whereas 
market consistent view is on a discounted best estimate basis. We therefore apply a discounting 
adjustment on loss reserves (including inward business as well as ceded reserves) based on actuarial 
assumptions. 

 Management margin: this is not carried as a liability in the market consistent view. 
The total of the technical provision adjustments (i.e. discounting and management margin) amounts to USD 
85.0m. 

7.3 Information on the Risk Margin 

7.3.1 Value of the risk margin and of the other effects on target capital 
 
The Risk Margin (also known as the Market Value Margin) is calculated in order to reach a market-
consistent valuation for the insurance liabilities (reserves).  Specifically it is the difference between the 
discounted best-estimate reserve value and the market-consistent value, it is deducted from the Risk 
Bearing Capital in determining surplus capital. 

7.3.2 Description of basis, methods and key assumptions used in the 
valuation. 

 
The Risk Margin is modelled as being equal to the cost of regulatory capital an entity would be required to 
hold to account for the risk of running off the business. Regarding the model elements included in the 
regulatory capital for the calculation of Risk Margin we exclude the following: 

1. Market Risk: Market Risk is assumed to be a risk which can be hedged and is therefore excluded.  
The hedging can be done through a portfolio of highly rated government bonds. MS Amlin AG 
liabilities are mainly in currencies for which government bonds are widely available (mainly USD) 
and the payment pattern is relatively short which simplifies matching issues. 

2. Credit Risk (investment): is reduced to zero, due to the assumption of holding highly rated 
government bonds. 

3. SST required scenarios: except for the “under-reserving” scenario, the SST required scenarios are 
related either to new claims or to financial market events which do not apply to a matched portfolio 
of government bonds. Therefore they are excluded. The reserving scenario is appropriate for 
consideration. This is a 10% increase in reserves at a 0.5% annual probability. 

The following elements are included in regulatory capital for the calculation of Risk Margin:  

1. Reserve Risk 

2. Reinsurance Credit Risk relating to the held reserves 

The cost of capital is assumed to be 6% as prescribed by FINMA for the purpose.   
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Based on the above assumptions we calculate a Risk Margin of USD 120.1m. Accordingly the SST Target 
Capital is USD 1,002.3m and the SST Capital Ratio is 206%. For further details please refer to Appendix 1. 

 

7.4 Market consistent valuation of other liabilities (for solvency 
purposes) 

7.4.1 Value of provisions for other liabilities 

Of the total USD 3,165.2m liabilities, USD 2,895.1m are technical provision, including unearned premium 
reserves. 

The remainder of USD 270.1m includes USD 237.0m for ‘Reinsurance payables’, USD 0.7m of ‘Deposits 
from ceded reinsurance’, USD 5.2m ‘Liabilities from derivative financial instruments’, USD 12.6m of ‘Other 
liabilities’, and 14.7mUSD of ‘non-technical provision’ (e.g. accruals and non-technical provisions). 

7.4.2 Description of basis, methods and key assumptions used in the 
valuation of other liabilities 

 
MS Amlin AG’s other liabilities in a market consistent view are mainly valued in line with IFRS. There are 
some discrepancies between valuation for MS Amlin AG’s FCR (i.e. SST) and IFRS annual report which are 
as follows: 

 Retirement benefit obligations: this is not carried as a liability in a market consistent view as under 
Swiss Code of Obligation only the actual contributions are activated. In MS Amlin AG’s IFRS annual 
report retirement benefit obligations amount to USD 8.4m as of 31 December 2017. 

 Deferred tax liabilities: this is not carried as a liability in a market consistent view. In MS Amlin AG’s 
IFRS annual report deferred tax liabilities amount to USD 5m as of 31 December 2017. 
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8.  Capital Management 

8.1 Goals, strategy and time horizon for capital planning 
 
With respect to its capital philosophy, MS Amlin AG seeks to maintain sufficient capital to comfortably meet 
its regulatory capital requirements, to maintain a strong credit rating, to ensure cedants are sufficiently 
protected and to fulfil its on-going business objectives. In line with its capital philosophy, the Boards regularly 
monitor the capital position. 
 
The Company calculates its regulatory capital requirement using its Internal Model on the Swiss Solvency 
Test basis. MS Amlin AG utilises its internal model to calculate the capital requirements, utilising data from 
the business and the forecast business plan that has been approved by the MS Amlin AG Boards. MS Amlin 
AG Target Capital is measured using the Swiss Solvency Test risk-based capital methodology. 
 
Swiss Solvency Test Capital Requirement 
 
This is a regulatory mandatory capital requirement measure that is based on the calculation of capital 
requirements to operate on a one-year basis. It is calculated to cover the risks that could materialise based 
on the execution of the one-year business plan that runs from 1 January to 31 December of the same 
calendar year. 
 
Through the annual business planning cycle and forward looking plans, MS Amlin AG will include a capital 
management plan to demonstrate how business growth is supported by retained profit or through raising of 
additional capital. 
 
Under the requirements of SST, MS Amlin AG operates a framework to ensure that capital needs are 
assessed. 
 

 During 2017, the Boards of MS Amlin AG considered which calculation methodology under the SST 
rules is most appropriate for the business, such as using the Standard Model or applying to use parts 
of an approved Internal Model.  

 It was decided that the Standard Model was not a good fit for MS Amlin AG and during the first half of 
2017, the application process to seek partial Internal Model approval from FINMA began, with Step 0 
approval granted in Q4 2017. Subsequent steps towards approval are underway. 

 

In all circumstances capital needs are assessed through MS Amlin’s Internal Model. The Internal Model 
forecasts a wide range of potential financial outcomes for each area of the business, which are used to 
calculate capital requirements and other risk adjusted metrics. 

 
Dividend Policy  
 
In principle, MS Amlin AG’s excess capital would be available to be paid to MS Amlin plc as dividends. The 
timing, manner and amount will be decided considering MS Amlin plc’s future five year strategy for the 
businesses, subject to regulatory considerations. 
 
Available Funds to meet Capital Requirement 
 
The relevant measure of available own funds is the Risk Bearing Capital (“RBC”) calculated on the SST 
market consistent balance sheet.  
 
MS Amlin AG has net assets under IFRS of USD 1,767.8 as compared to USD 1,938.4m net assets based 
on SST market consistent balance sheet. The adjustments made to move from IFRS balance sheet to SST 
market consistent balance sheet are set out below: 
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In USD millions SST 2017 SST 2018 

Excess of assets over liabilities - IFRS                  2,553  1,768   

Technical provision adjustments                     102  162   

Other adjustments (*)                         8  8   

Excess of assets over liabilities- SST market-consistent balance sheet                  2,663      1,938 

Approved Dividend  (554)  0  

Intangible Assets 0 -1 

SST Risk Bearing Capital after dividend                  2,109  1,937   

 (*) Other adjustments mainly include adjustments on deferred tax, retirement benefit obligations and foreign 
currency translation. 

For further details regarding the significant discrepancies please refer to Section 7 “Valuation”.  
 
Capital Composition 
 
MS Amlin AG must ensure that it continuously maintains Risk Bearing Capital of a suitable quality and 
permanence to meet the admissibility requirements of the Swiss Solvency Test.   
 
Contingency Plans 

As part of the MS&AD Group, MS Amlin AG benefits from being able to draw on a substantial capital base 
from a secure and supportive parent. The specific response to any capital shortfall will depend on the 
circumstances giving rise to it.  

In an event of an extreme threat to MS Amlin AG’s capital adequacy, MS Amlin AG would have two choices: 
to either reduce its capital needs by altering areas of its business plans; or seek to raise capital from its 
parent to support the current plan to the end of the operating year and onwards. A solution could involve a 
contribution of one or both of these options.  Any proposals to change the business plan or raise additional 
capital would require approval by MS Amlin AG Boards as well as by the MS Amlin plc Board and the 
shareholder MSI. 

The timescales and associated limitations of raising capital are dependent on the context of the event that 
may invoke the necessity of executing the contingency plan.   

8.2 Structure, level and quality of the equity capital reported in 
the annual report 

 

For details regarding structure, level and quality of the equity capital please refer to MS Amlin AG’s IFRS 
annual report, note 14 (Appendix 43).  
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9. Solvency 
 

9.1 Information about the Internal Model 

9.1.1 Choice and justification of choice of the Internal Model 
 
For the SST, MS Amlin AG uses a partial internal model:  

 Premium Risk, Reserve Risk and Reinsurance Credit Risk are modelled using MS Amlin’s Internal 
Model (which is described below).  

 For Market Risk and Investment Credit Risk, the standard models of FINMA are used. 
The Internal Model is an integral part of MS Amlin AG’s Risk Management Framework and is also used to 
support the wider management of the business. The main reasons for using FINMA’s standard models for 
SST Market Risk and Investment Credit Risk, instead of internal models, is that these risks are relatively 
less material for MS Amlin AG compared to Insurance Risk, and we believe that FINMA’s standard models 
provide a sufficient reflection of these risks for MS Amlin AG. 
 
The scope and structure of MS Amlin AG’s Internal Model is shown in the diagram below. 
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9.1.2 Description of the Internal Model’s salient features 
 
MS Amlin AG’s policy framework surrounding the Internal Model includes: 
 
Governance 

The MS Amlin AG Internal Model is governed by MS Amlin AG’s Internal Model Policy and the supporting 
Internal Model Standards. Governance responsibilities are set out in the Internal Model Governance 
Standard.  These are reviewed and approved annually by the MS Amlin AG Boards. 

The MS Amlin AG Risk Committee receives a quarterly report on the Risk and Solvency position for the 
Company. This outlines activities over the last quarter including rationale for movements in the capital, 
reasons behind model changes and validation work performed. 
 
Changes to the Internal Model 

Changes to the Internal Model are approved in accordance with the Internal Model Change Standard. 
Changes are classified as major, minor or operational in accordance with the Internal Model Change 
Standard.  All model changes are documented. 

Model changes are reported to the MS Amlin AG Risk Committee on a quarterly basis. All Internal Model 
methodology changes and parameter changes are incrementally tracked. The accumulated model changes 
for MS Amlin AG over the current quarter and the year to date are specifically tracked.  

Data Quality 

Data and data processes used within the Internal Model adhere to the Internal Model Data Quality Standard. 
Data feeding the Internal Model is recognised as needing to be ‘accurate, complete, and appropriate’.  

Data quality controls are included within the Internal Control Framework and attested to on a quarterly cycle. 
Where controls are identified as requiring remediation as a result of their design or operation  improvement 
plans are agreed and actioned. 

Validation 

The Internal Model is validated to enable Boards, management and supervisory authorities to conclude that 
the Internal Model is appropriate for the calculation of regulatory capital and appropriate for use within the 
Risk Management Framework and decision making process of the Company. 

Validation is carried out by both the team responsible for the design and operation of the Internal Model 
(dependent validation) as well as by independent validators. Independent validation is carried out in 
accordance with the Internal Model Validation Standard.  

Documentation 
The Internal Model documentation is recognised as needing to be complete, accurate, relevant and up to 
date with enough content and clarity to allow an independent, knowledgeable third party to understand the 
model. An important use for the documentation is to mitigate key personnel risk. Therefore, documentation 
is written and reviewed at an appropriate level so that an individual can gain adequate knowledge of the 
structure, methodology and functionality of MS Amlin AG’s Internal Model. The minimum requirements for 
Internal Model documentation are set out in the Internal Model Documentation Standard. 
 
Expert Judgement 
There may be instances when the valuation of assets and liabilities cannot be determined solely by the 
empirical analysis of data, but must be determined instead by the application of expert judgement. The 
Internal Model Expert Judgement Standard provides clear guidelines for the use of expert judgement as part 
of MS Amlin AG’s Internal Model. 
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Use  

The Internal Model Use Standard provides a governance and compliance framework to manage the use of 
MS Amlin AG’s Internal Model, ensuring that it is widely used, and playing an important role in the 
management of the business. 

9.1.3 Indication if the Internal Model has been approved by FINMA 
 
Documentation on our internal model is being reviewed by FINMA. In the meantime, our SST partial internal 
model has been provided temporary approval by FINMA. 

9.2 Information about Target Capital (with explanatory notes) 

9.2.1 Breakdown of target capital into its key components 
 
The table below shows the overall result of the SST quantitative model, combining all the components 
discussed in previous sections.  The SST Target Capital is USD 1,002.3m and the SST Capital Ratio is 
206%. Please note that SST 2018 was filed with FINMA on April 2018 simultaneously to this document.  

 

Item 
2018   
($m)* 

2017   
($m)* 

Difference  
($m)* 

Market Risk (standalone)  249.0 359.4 -91.2 

Reserving Risk (standalone)  441.9 332.7 105.6 

Premium Risk (standalone)  743.3 873.1 -129.8 

RI Credit & LCP** cat bond (standalone)  60.4 69.1 -8.7 

Combined Stochastic (excluding scenarios)  895.6 995.9 -98.4 

difference from scenarios  2.2 4.4 -2.0 

Combined Total Distribution (Analytic Result)  897.9 1,000.3 -100.4 

Credit Risk (Investments)  129.9 145.3 -14.6 

Expected Insurance Result  -65.0 -97.9 32.8 

Expected Investment Result  -80.4 -91.4 11.0 

One-year risk capital   882.2 956.3 -71.2 

Risk Margin  120.1 77.7 40.9 

SST Target Capital  1,002.3 1,034.1 -30.3 

SST Risk Bearing Capital  1,937.4 2,108.9 -170.5 
SST Capital Ratio (Risk Bearing Capital - Risk Margin) / One-
year risk capital  206% 212% -7% 
 

9.2.2 Breakdown of market risk and insurance risk into their key 
components 

 
Market risk 
 
Market Risk represents the risk to the MS Amlin AG Balance Sheet from financial market volatility, for 
example from changes in currency exchange rates, yield curves, credit spreads, property values and equity 
market volatility. The basis of the MS Amlin AG Market Risk calculation is the SST Standard Market Risk 
model. The SST Standard Model comprises of 81 risk factors, and assumes that changes in the risk factors 
follow a multivariate normal distribution. The volatility of each risk factors as well as the correlations among 
the risk factors are provided in the Standard Model Template. The aggregated Market Risk distribution is 
then calculated based on these parameters and the sensitivities of MS Amlin AG’s Balance Sheet to the 
different risk factors.  



 

     

30 April 2018  © MS Amlin  36 / 40 
  For publication  Final 

The results of the Market Risk Model are presented below. The overall Market Risk charge is USD 249.0m 
where the largest driver is interest rates, followed by equities. 

 

Comparing the market risk result for the SST 2018 with the SST 2017, there has been a decrease in the risk 
in monetary terms from USD 359m to USD 249m. This is due to refinements in the treatment of derivatives, 
improvements in asset liability matching and a reduction in the overall level of assets. 

Interest Rate Risk has decreased marginally compared to last year largely driven by a reduction in the 
difference of asset-liability durations for our USD holdings.  

Real Estate Risk increased by 36% compared to last year due to an increase in the property allocation. 

For equities, the risk has reduced compared to last year due to refinements in the modelling of equity 
derivatives.  
 
Insurance risk 
 
Insurance Risk for MS Amlin AG is dominated by Premium Risk, with Reserve Risk having a much less 
material impact. The components of Insurance Risk are shown in the table in section 9.2.1 and discussed in 
section 6.1.1. 

9.2.3 Comparison with corresponding information from previous 
reporting period 

 
In this section we compare the results from this submission to those submitted for the SST 2017. 

We note the following overall changes: 

 The SST Capital Ratio has decreased slightly to 206% compared to 212% for 2017 

 One-year risk capital has decreased from USD 956m to USD 882m  

 Risk Bearing Capital has decreased from USD 2,109m to USD 1,937m 

 
The main drivers of movements underlying the target capital can be summarised as follows: 

Standard 
deviation

VaR
Expected-

Shortfall (ES)

[Mio. USD] [Mio. USD] [Mio. USD]
All risk factors 93.4                     217.3                   -249.0                   

All interest rates 40.2                     93.5                     -107.1                   

All without interest rates 69.9                     162.7                   -186.4                   

    Interest rates CHF 0.1                      0.2                       -0.3                      

    Interest rates EUR 19.4                     45.1                     -51.7                     

    Interest rates USD 11.8                     27.4                     -31.3                     

    Interest rates GBP 13.3                     30.9                     -35.4                     

Spreads 25.8                     60.0                     -68.8                     

Foreign exchange 19.3                     45.0                     -51.5                     

Equities 28.8                     67.1                     -76.8                     

Real Estate 28.8                     67.1                     -76.8                     

Hedge Funds -                      -                       -                       

Private Equity -                      -                       -                       

Participations -                      -                       -                       

MS AAG Market Risk
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 Premium Risk: the main driver is the non-renewal of some catastrophe business brought through the 
integration of the MSF portfolio.  

 Reserving Risk: the increase in risk is in line with the increase in reserve amounts as at year end 2017.  
The increase in reserve amount is mainly caused by the catastrophe events in 2017. 

 Market Risk: There has been a decrease in the risk charge in monetary terms from USD 359m to USD 
249m. This was due to refinements in the treatment of derivatives, improvements in asset liability 
matching and a reduction in the overall level of assets. 

 Credit Risk (Investments): the main driver of the reduction is a decrease in the amount of business 
internally ceded to MSI. 

 Expected result: the drivers of the decrease compared to last year are the reductions in our expected 
return assumptions for some asset classes and the allowance in our business plan for the deteriorating 
rating environment and corresponding reductions in the volume of business written. 

 

9.3 Information about Risk-Bearing Capital 

9.3.1 Breakdown of the risk bearing capital into its key components 
 
Market consistent value in the FCR template of total assets amount to USD 5,103.5m and total liabilities 
amount to USD 3,165.2m as of 31 December 2017 resulting in a difference between market-consistent 
assets and market-consistent liabilities of USD 1,938.4m. For further details please refer to Appendix 1.  

The comparison of the Risk Bearing Capital between 2017 and 2018 is shown in Appendix I. The main 
driver of the movement is the catastrophic events of 2017, including the North America Hurricanes and 
wildfires. 

9.3.2 The insurance company’s comments on its reported solvency 
 
The MS Amlin AG SST 2018 Capital Ratio described in this report is 206%, which compares favourably with 
the minimum FINMA SST solvency requirement of 100%. The SST One-year risk capital is USD 882.2m, the 
risk margin is USD 120.1m and the SST Risk Bearing Capital is USD 1,937.4m.  

Since last year, the SST One-year risk capital has decreased by USD 30.3m compared to a decrease of 
USD 171m in Risk Bearing Capital.  
 

9.3.3 Comparison with information provided to FINMA and assurance 
of subjection to regulatory audit 

 
Please note that in the above, we denote by “One-year risk capital” the denominator of the SST ratio as per 
2018 methodology prescribed by FINMA, i.e. excluding the Market Value Margin. 
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10. Appendices 
 

10.1 Appendix 1 
 
Erfolg Solo NL  

Marktnahe Bilanz Solo 

Solva Solo 

10.2 Appendix 2 
 
MS & AD Insurance Group Holdings, Inc.’s Group structure 

10.3 Appendix 3 
 
The IFRS Annual Report (External Auditor’s summary report to the IFRS Annual Report)



www.msamlin.com



Currency: USD
Amounts stated in millions 

2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017
1 Gross premiums 1,363 1,328 21 6 257 248 90 78 722 746 177 141 96 109
2 Reinsurers' share of gross premiums (84) (131) 0 (0) (3) (5) 0 (0) (80) (121) (0) (4) 0 0
3 Premiums for own account (1 + 2) 1,279 1,198 21 6 254 243 90 77 641 625 177 137 96 109
4 Change in unearned premium reserves (86) 21 (6) 1 4 (8) 3 (4) (35) 53 6 15 (58) (36)
5 Reinsurers' share of change in unearned premium reserves (3) (1) 0 (0) (0) (0) 0 0 (3) (1) (0) (0) 0 0
6 Premiums earned for own account (3 + 4 + 5) 1,190 1,218 15 7 258 235 93 73 604 677 182 152 38 73
7 Other income from insurance business 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8 Total income from underwriting business (6 + 7) 1,190 1,218 15 7 258 235 93 73 604 677 182 152 38 73
9 Payments for insurance claims (gross) (567) (806) (5) (3) (76) (119) (51) (47) (357) (523) (45) (79) (33) (35)

10 Reinsurers' share of payments for insurance claims 20 52 0 0 (1) 0 0 0 21 51 0 0 0 0
11 Change in technical provisions (249) (680) (4) (1) (106) (143) (19) (36) (66) (394) (43) (90) (10) (17)
12 Reinsurers' share of change in technical provisions (20) 222 0 0 1 2 0 0 (21) 221 0 0 0 0
13 Change in technical provisions for unit-linked life insurance 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
14 Expenses for insurance claims for own account (9 + 10 + 11 + 12 + 13) (816) (1,212) (9) (3) (182) (260) (70) (82) (423) (646) (88) (169) (43) (52)
15 Acquisition and administration expenses (323) (350) (5) (2) (61) (65) (21) (20) (171) (197) (42) (37) (23) (29)
16 Reinsurers' share of acquisition and administration expenses (0) (0) 0 (0) (0) (0) 0 (0) (0) (0) (0) (0) 0 0
17 Acquisition and administration expenses for own account (15 + 16) (323) (350) (5) (2) (61) (65) (21) (20) (171) (197) (42) (37) (23) (29)
18 Other underwriting expenses for own account (0) (0) (0) 0 (0) 0 (0) 0 (0) 0 (0) 0 (0) 0
19 Total expenses from underwriting business (14 + 17 + 18) (non-life 

insurance only) (1,139) (1,562) (14) (5) (243) (325) (92) (103) (594) (842) (130) (206) (66) (80)
20 Investment income 69 224
21 Investment expenses (43) (112)
22 Net investment income (20 + 21) 25 112
23 Capital and interest income from unit-linked life insurance 0 0
24 Other financial income 0 5
25 Other financial expenses (2) (2)
26 Operating result (8 + 14 + 17 + 18 + 22 + 23 + 24 + 25) 75 (230)
27 Interest expenses for interest-bearing liabilities 0 0
28 Other income 0 0
29 Other expenses (20) (17)
30 Extraordinary income/expenses 0 0
31 Profit / loss before taxes (26 + 27 + 28 + 29 + 30) 55 (247)
32 Direct taxes (9) 5
33 Profit / loss (31 + 32) 46 (242)

Financial situation report: quantitative template "Performance Solo 
Reinsurance"

MiscellaneousTotal Health Motor
Marine, aviation,

 transport
Property Casualty



Currency: USD 1000000
Amounts stated in 
millions 

31.12.2016
Adjustments

previous period 31.12.2017

-                             -                            
-                             -                            
522                            371                            
163                            230                            
-                             -                            
379                            432                            

2,632                         2,238                         
-                             -                            
-                             -                            

2,632                         2,238                         
3,696                         3,272                         

-                             -                            
13                              4                                

215                            326                            
901                            1,022                         
27                              24                              
8                                6                                

1,151                         1,378                         
Total market-consistent value 

of assets 4,860                         4,654                         

(2,015) (2,693)

(2,015) (2,693)

28 247

28 247                            

(0) (5)
(4) (1)

(174) (247)
(32) (18)

Total BEL plus market-
consistent value of other 

liabilities (2,197) (2,716)

2,663                         1,938                         

Financial situation report: quantitative template "Market-consistent Balance Sheet Solo"

Receivables from derivative financial instruments
Financial investments from unit-linked life insurance

Real estate
Shareholdings
Fixed-income securities
Loans
Mortgages 
Equities
Other investments

Total investments 

Collective investment schemes

Other investments
Alternative investments

Market-consistent value of 
investments

Market-consistent value of 
other assets

Best estimate liabilities (BEL)

Market-consistent value of 
other liabilities

Other receivables
Other assets
Total other assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables from insurance business

Total market-consistent value of assets

Best estimate of provisions for insurance liabilities

Direct insurance: life insurance business (excluding ALV)
Direct insurance: non-life insurance business
Direct insurance: health insurance business
Direct insurance: unit-linked life insurance business
Direct insurance: other business
Outward reinsurance: life insurance business (excluding ALV)
Outward reinsurance: non-life insurance business
Outward reinsurance: health insurance business
Outward reinsurance: unit-linked life insurance business
Outward reinsurance: other business

Reinsurers' share of best estimate of provisions for insurance liabilities

Direct insurance: life insurance business (excluding ALV)
Direct insurance: non-life insurance business
Direct insurance: health insurance business
Direct insurance: unit-linked life insurance business
Direct insurance: other business
Outward reinsurance: life insurance business (excluding ALV)
Outward reinsurance: non-life insurance business
Outward reinsurance: health insurance business
Outward reinsurance: unit-linked life insurance business

Non-technical provisions

Liabilities from insurance business

Total BEL plus market-consistent value of other liabilities

Market-consistent value of assets minus total from BEL plus market-
consistent value of other liabilities

Outward reinsurance: other business

Interest-bearing liabilities
Liabilities from derivative financial instruments
Deposits retained on ceded reinsurance

Other liabilities



Currency: USD
Amounts stated in 
millions 

Ref. date previous 
period

Adjustments 
previous period

Ref. date reporting 
year

in USD millions in USD millions in USD millions
Market-consistent value of assets minus total 
from best estimate liabilities plus market-
consistent value of other liabilities 2,663                       1,938                      
Deductions 554-                          1-                             
Core capital 2,109                       1,937                      
Supplementary capital -                          -                          
RBC 2,109                       1,937                      

Ref. date previous 
period

Adjustments 
previous period

Ref. date reporting 
year

in USD millions in USD millions in USD millions
Underwriting risk 902.69                     825
Market risk 359.37                     249
Diversification effects 335.25-                     -239
Credit risk 214.43                     190
Risk margin and other effects on target capital 107.17-                     -23
Target capital 1,034.06                  1002

Ref. date previous 
period

Adjustments 
previous period

Ref. date reporting 
year

in % in % in %
SST ratio 212% 206%

Derivation of 
RBC

Derivation of 
target capital

Financial situation report: quantitative template 
"Solvency Solo"
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The Directors present the annual report and the audited 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 of 
MS Amlin AG (the Company). The Company is a wholly 
owned subsidiary of MS Amlin plc (the Parent) whose parent 
is Mitsui Sumitomo Insurance Company, Limited (MSI), a 
wholly owned subsidiary of MS&AD Insurance Group 
Holdings, Inc. 

The Company is incorporated in Switzerland and operates in 
Zurich with branches in Bermuda and Labuan. MS Frontier 
Modeling Research Pte Ltd (MSFMR), a wholly owned 
subsidiary in Singapore, was struck off as of 5 June 2017. 

The Company is supervised by the Swiss Financial Market 
Supervisory Authority (FINMA), while its branches are under 
the supervision of the Bermuda Monetary Authority (BMA), 
and the Labuan Financial Services Authority (LFSA) 
respectively.  

Business review and principal activities  
Through the Bermuda branch, the Company carries out 
reinsurance business principally on a geographically spread 
catastrophe and property account. In addition, Syndicate 2001 
(the Syndicate), a Lloyd’s Syndicate managed within the MS 
Amlin group, has placed a number of reinsurance contracts 
with the Company. The reinsurance contracts are: 
 
 a number of proportional treaty and excess of loss contracts 

covering cessions of various classes of business; and 

 a whole account quota share which covers a specific 
cession from all classes of business written by the 
Syndicate, including marine, non marine, aviation and UK 
commercial on a global basis. 

The operation in Zurich was set up to write European non-life 
reinsurance from Zurich and mainly targets small and mid-
sized insurance companies. It offers comprehensive 
reinsurance solutions over all non-life classes and products. 

The operation in Labuan carries out reinsurance business 
made up of principally excess of loss and proportional 
business geographically located in East and South East Asia. 

Results and dividends 
The loss for the Company for the year ended 31 December 
2017 amounted to $241.7 million (2016: profit of $46.1 
million), full details of which are set out in the statement of 
profit or loss on page 6 and the related notes. 

On 26 April 2017 the Directors recommended for approval by 
the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held on the 
same date the payment of a $554.0 million dividend. The 
dividend payment was approved by the shareholders and was 
paid on 8 May 2017.  

  

Directors 
The Directors who served during 2017 were: 

Supervisory Board   
R Adam 
M Albers    
M Burke 
S Materne  
R Hextall 
 
 
Executive Board 
P da Camino Soligo 
C Farnworth 
G Mauchamp 
K McDonald   
R Wyatt 
C Bieri 
Y Poster 
 
At the Annual General Meeting on 23 April 2018, all members 
of the Supervisory Board, with the exception of R Hextall, will 
be standing for re-election each for a term of one year. 
 
 

Auditors 
The auditors for the year ended 31 December 2017 were 
KPMG AG. 

By Order of the Board of Directors 

 

 

J Simek 
Secretary 
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The Directors are responsible for preparing the financial 
statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations 
in Switzerland. In addition to the preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with Swiss Company Law, the 
Directors have elected to prepare these financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) for each financial year.  

International Accounting Standard 1 ‘Presentation of Financial 
Statements’ requires that financial statements present fairly 
for each financial year the Company’s financial position, 
financial performance and cash flows. This requires the 
faithful representation of the effects of transactions, other 
events and conditions in accordance with the definitions and 
recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, income and expenses 
set out in the International Accounting Standards Board’s 
‘Framework for the preparation and presentation of financial 
statements’. In virtually all circumstances, a fair presentation 
will be achieved by compliance with all applicable IFRS. 
However, Directors are also required to: 
 
 properly select and apply accounting policies; and 

 state whether applicable IFRS, as adopted, have been 
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and 
explained in the financial statements. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting 
records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 
the financial position of the Company and enable them to 
ensure that the financial statements comply with the 
applicable laws. They are also responsible for safeguarding 
assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps 
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities. 
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On your instructions, we have audited the financial statements 
of MS Amlin AG, which comprise the statement of profit or 
loss, statement of other comprehensive income, statement of 
changes in equity, statement of financial position, statement 
of cash flows, and notes to the financial statements (pages 6 
to 45), for the year ended 31 December 2017. 

Board of Directors’ Responsibility 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
This responsibility includes designing, implementing and 
maintaining an internal control system relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. The Board of Directors is further responsible for 
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and 
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the 
circumstances. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Swiss Auditing Standards as well as the 
International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s 
preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control system. 

An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.  

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2017 give a true and fair view of the financial 
position, the results of operations and the cash flows in 
accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS).  

KPMG AG 

 

 

Bill Schiller Sabrina Kessler 
Licensed Audit expert Licensed Audit expert 
Auditor in charge 

 

Zürich, 23 April 2018 
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 Notes 
2017 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

Gross earned premium   1,349,525  1,276,525  
Reinsurance premium ceded   (131,664) (86,530) 
Net earned premium   1,217,861  1,189,995  
    
Net investment return 4  111,602  25,410  
Total income   1,329,463  1,215,405  
    
Insurance claims and claims settlement expenses   (1,485,997) (816,107) 
Insurance claims and claims settlement expenses recoverable from reinsurers   274,002  133  
Net insurance claims   (1,211,995) (815,974) 
    
Expenses for the acquisition of insurance contracts   (254,543) (234,663) 
Other operating expenses 5(a)  (107,565) (107,968) 
Total expenses   (362,108) (342,631) 
    
Results of operating activities   (244,640) 56,800  
Finance costs 5(d)  (1,898) (2,067) 
(Loss) / Profit before tax   (246,538) 54,733  
Tax 6  4,823  (8,632) 
(Loss) / Profit for the year   (241,715) 46,101  
Attributable to Owners of the Company   (241,715) 46,101  
 
The attached notes and information on pages 12 to 45 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

All activities relate to continuing operations. 
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 Notes 
2017  
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

(Loss)/Profit for the year   (241,715) 46,101  
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss    
Defined benefit pension fund (losses)/gains 13(a)  (417) 1,683 
Deferred tax/(income) relating to items that will not be reclassified 6  88  (356) 
   (329) 1,327 
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss    
Foreign exchange gains/(losses) on translation of the Zurich operation   10,519  (3,298) 
Unrealised losses on financial assets designated as available-for-sale  (109) - 
    
Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year, net of tax   10,081  (1,971) 
    
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year   (231,634) 44,130  
    
Attributable to Owners of the Company   (231,634) 44,130  
 
The attached notes and information on pages 12 to 45 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

All activities relate to continuing operations. 
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 Notes 

Share  
capital  
$’000 

Share  
premium  

$’000 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

$’000 

Retained  
earnings  

$’000 

Total equity 
and reserves  

$’000 

At 1 January 2017  10,204  1,335,071   (18,302)    1,226,450  2,553,423 

Profit for the year      (241,715) (241,715) 
Other comprehensive income/(expenses) for the year      10,517 (436) 10,081 
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year         10,517    (242,151) (231,634) 
Dividend paid 8      (554,000) (554,000) 
Transactions with the owner of the Company for the year      -     -     -   (554,000) (554,000) 
At 31 December 2017  10,204   1,335,071   (7,785)   430,299 1,767,789 
 

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Notes 

Share  
capital  
$’000 

Share  
premium  

$’000 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

$’000 

Retained  
earnings  

$’000 

Total equity 
and reserves  

$’000 

At 1 January 2016  10,204  848,704  (15,004)  703,448  1,547,352  

Profit for the year  – – – 46,101 46,101 
Other comprehensive income/(expenses) for the year  – – (3,298) 1,327 (1,971) 
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year  – – (3,298) 47,428  44,130  
Employee share option scheme:       
– share based payment reserve  – – –  888 888  
Dividend paid 8 – – – (173,894) (173,894) 
Business acquisitions under common control 3 – 486,367  – 648,580 1,134,947  
Transactions with the owner of the Company for the year  –  486,367  –  475,574 961,941  
At 31 December 2016  10,204  1,335,071  (18,302)  1,226,450  2,553,423  
 

The attached notes and information on pages 12 to 45 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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 Notes 
2017  
$’000 

2016  
$’000 

Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents       326,149 1,291,133
Financial assets      3,045,660 2,469,767
Reinsurance assets   
– reinsurers’ share of outstanding claims  10(a)      251,207 26,382
– reinsurers’ share of unearned premium 10(c)        3,327 3,377
– insurance and reinsurance receivables 10(e)    1,027,224 901,211
Other loans and receivables 9(a) 24,773 26,798
Related party loan 9(b)      230,457 163,237
Deferred acquisition costs 10(d)      202,399 189,853
Property and equipment 11        4,551 3,092
Intangible assets 12        1,001 4,663
Total assets     5,116,748 5,079,513  
    
Equity and reserves    
Share capital 14(a)       10,204 10,204
Share premium     1,335,071 1,335,071
Foreign currency translation reserve       (7,785) (18,302)
Retained earnings  430,299 1,226,450
Total equity and reserves     1,767,789 2,553,423
    
Liabilities    
Insurance liabilities    
– outstanding claims  10(a)    2,170,379 1,433,962
– unearned premium 10(c)      894,056 869,500
– insurance and reinsurance payables 10(f)      242,419 153,605
Other payables 9(c)       23,380 50,522
Financial liabilities         5,231 495
Current income tax liabilities 6          158 975
Retirement benefit obligations 13(a)        8,360 7,234
Deferred tax liabilities 6         4,976 9,797
Total liabilities     3,348,959 2,526,090
Total equity, reserves and liabilities     5,116,748 5,079,513
 
The attached notes and information on pages 12 to 45 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

The financial statements on pages 6 to 9 were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 23 April 2018. 
They were signed on its behalf by: 

 

 

 

Grégoire Mauchamp Kate McDonald 
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer 
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 Notes 
2017  
$’000 

2016  
$’000  

(Loss)/Profit before tax    (246,538) 54,733 

    

Adjustments:    

Depreciation charge 11 / 12    4,672  871 

Finance costs 5d   1,898  2,067 

Interest income   (11,173) (8,724) 

Dividend income   (17,640) (18,394) 

Losses/(Gains) on investments realised and unrealised    (82,789) 1,708 

Other non-cash movements    8,369  (2,762) 

Movement in operating assets and liabilities:    

Net purchases of financial investments    (400,295) 14,780 

Foreign exchange losses on investments    (88,074) 75,310 

(Increase)/decrease in other loans and receivables    2,245 (17,953) 

Increase in insurance and reinsurance contract assets    (363,333) (114,404) 

Increase in insurance and reinsurance contract liabilities    849,788 195,077  

Increase/(decrease) in other payables    (27,142) 16,556 

Cash (used in)/generated from operations    (370,012) 198,865  

Interest received    11,173  8,724 

Dividends received    17,640  18,394 

Taxes paid     (2,061) (2,008) 

Net cash outflows/inflows from operating activities    (343,260) 223,975 

    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 3    -  1,196,967 

Purchase of property and equipment 11   (2,349) (2,113) 

Net cash outflows from investing activities    (2,349) 1,194,854 

    

Cash flows from financing activities    

Related party loan 9b (69,000) - 

Dividend paid  8   (554,000) (173,894) 

Net cash outflows from financing activities    (623,000) (173,894) 

    

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    (968,609) 1,244,935 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   1,291,133 48,765 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents    3,625 (2,567) 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year    326,149 1,291,133 

 
The Company includes cash flows from purchase and disposal of financial assets in its operating cash flows as these 
transactions are generated by the cash flows associated with the origination and settlement of insurance contract liabilities or 
capital requirements to support underwriting. 

The attached notes and information on pages 12 to 45 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value. For the purposes of the statement of 
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held on call with banks and other short-term, highly 
liquid investments which are believed to be subject to insignificant risk of change in fair value. 
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Cash and cash equivalents 
 

 
2017 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

Cash and cash in hand 289,939 214,713 
Short-term deposits and other highly liquid investments 36,210  1,076,420  
 326,149 1,291,133 
 
Cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and in hand, short-term bank deposits, and money market funds which 
represent highly liquid investments 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2017 
 

MS Amlin AG 2017 Annual Report     12 

1. Summary of significant accounting policies and critical 
accounting judgements and estimates 
MS Amlin AG (the Company) is incorporated in 
Switzerland and operates in Zurich with branches in 
Bermuda and Labuan. 

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of MS Amlin 
plc (the Parent). 

1.1 Basis of preparation 
These financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretation 
Committee (IFRICs). 

The financial statements have been prepared on the 
historical cost basis except for cash and cash equivalents, 
financial assets and financial liabilities, share options, and 
pension assets, which are measured at their fair value. 

Except where otherwise stated, all figures included in the 
financial statements are presented in thousands of US 
dollars shown as $’000 rounded to the nearest $1,000. 

1.2 Adoption of new and revised standards 
(a) New standards, amendments to published standards 
and interpretations effective on or after 1 January 2017 
The Company has adopted the following new standards 
and amendments for the first time for their annual reporting 
period commencing 1 January 2017:  

Amendment to IFRS 12, 'Disclosure of Interests in Other 
Entities' 

Amendments to IAS 12, 'Income Taxes' - Recognition of 
Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses.  

Amendments to IAS 7, 'Statement of cash flows' arising 
from the Disclosure Initiative. 

These amendments did not result in a material impact on 
the financial statements of the Company. 

 (b) Standards, amendments to published standards and 
interpretations early adopted by the Company 
The Company did not early adopt any new or amended 
IFRSs for the year ended 31 December 2017. 

 (c) Standards, amendments to published standards and 
interpretations that are not yet effective and have not been 
early adopted by the Company  
 
IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’  
In July 2014, the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB) issued the final version of IFRS 9, bringing together 
the classification and measurement, impairment and hedge 
accounting phases of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 
‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ and 
all previous versions of IFRS 9.  
 
The final standard has a mandatory effective date of 1 
January 2018 with early adoption permitted, however the 
IASB have issued ‘Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts Amendments to IFRS 4’ 
that permits but does not require entities that 
predominantly issue insurance contracts the option to:  
• defer the effective date of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

until 2021 (the ‘deferral approach’); or 
• remove from profit or loss and instead present in other 

comprehensive income some of the additional 

accounting mismatches and temporary volatility that 
could occur before the new insurance contracts 
Standard is implemented (the ‘overlay approach’).  

 
The application of both approaches is optional and an 
entity is permitted to stop applying them before the new 
insurance contracts standard is applied. 
 
The adoption of IFRS 9 will have an effect on the 
classification and measurement and impairment model 
applied to the Company’s financial instruments. An 
assessment is on-going to quantify the impact of these 
changes. The Company has elected to apply the deferral 
approach.   
 
IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ 
In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers with an effective date of 1 
January 2017. In September 2015, an amendment was 
issued for the effective date to be deferred to annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with early 
adoption permitted. In April 2016 the IASB published some 
clarifications to IFRS 15.  
 
The underlying principle is that an entity will recognise 
revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to 
customers at an amount that the entity expects to be 
entitled to in exchange for those goods or services, based 
on the satisfaction of performance objectives. 
 
Adoption of this standard replaces existing revenue 
recognition guidance applied by the Company, IAS 18 
‘Revenue’. It is not expected to have a material impact on 
the earned income of the Company.  
 
IFRS 16, ‘Leases’ 
In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 Leases with an 
effective date of accounting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2019. This new standard replaces IAS 17 Leases. 
 
IFRS 16 eliminates the classification of leases as either 
operating leases or finance leases as is required by IAS 17 
and, instead, introduces a single lessee accounting model. 
Applying that model, a lessee is required to recognise: 
• assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more 

than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low 
value; and 

• depreciation of lease assets separately from interest on 
lease liabilities in the income statement. 

 
The adoption of IFRS 16 will have a material effect on the 
Company as leased assets will be grossed up on the 
statement of financial position along with a corresponding 
liability. Depreciation on the leased asset and interest 
charge on the liability will also be accounted for through 
the profit or loss account.  
 
IFRS 17, Insurance Contracts’ 
 
In May 2017, the IASB issued IFRS 17 Insurance 
Contracts with an effective date for accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2021. This standard 
replaces IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts and establishes 
principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation 
and disclosure of insurance contracts issued. It also 
requires similar principles to be applied to reinsurance 
contracts held and investment contracts with discretionary 
participation features issued. The objective is to ensure 
that relevant information is provided in a way that faithfully 
represents those contracts. The impact of this new 
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standard on the Company is currently being assessed 
however it is expected to be substantial. 
 
IFRIC Interpretation 22 ‘Foreign Currency Transactions 
and Advance Consideration’ 
On 8 December 2016 the IASB issued IFRIC Interpretation 
22 which addresses how to determine the date of the 
transaction for the purpose of determining the spot 
exchange rate used to translate the asset, expense or 
income (or part of it) on initial recognition that relates to, 
and is recognised on the derecognition of, a non-monetary 
prepayment asset or a non-monetary deferred income 
liability. This Interpretation is effective for accounting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. 
 
IFRIC Interpretation 23 ‘Uncertainty over Income Tax 
Treatments’ 
 
On 7 June 2017 the IASB issued IFRIC Interpretation 23 
which addresses the accounting for tax when there are 
uncertainties over the tax treatment. It may be unclear how 
tax law applies to a particular transaction or circumstance, 
or whether a taxation authority will accept a company’s tax 
treatment. IAS 12 Income Taxes specifies how to account 
for current and deferred tax, but not how to reflect the 
effects of uncertainty. IFRIC 23 provides requirements that 
add to the requirements in IAS 12 by specifying how to 
reflect the effects of uncertainty in accounting for income 
taxes. It is effective for accounting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2019. 
 
1. 3 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of 
estimation uncertainty 
The preparation of financial statements requires the use of 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities. Although these estimates 
are based on management’s best knowledge of current 
events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ 
from those estimates. The table below provides an 
overview of the areas that involved a higher degree of 
judgement or complexity, and of items which are more 
likely to be materially adjusted due to estimates and 
assumptions turning out to be different to estimates. 

Critical 
accounting 
judgement Nature of judgement Note 
Product 
classification 

Assessment of the 
significance of insurance 
risk passed 

(c) 

 

Significant accounting estimates Note 
Estimation of unpaid insurance claim 
reserves & expenses 

(a) 

Estimation of premium income (b) 
Fair value of Level 3 financial investments (d) 
Intangible assets – recognition and 
impairment 

(e) 

Recognition of deferred tax provisions (f) 
Retirement benefit obligations – recognition (g) 
 
 (a) Insurance contract liabilities 
The most significant estimate made in the financial 
statements relates to unpaid insurance claim reserves and 
related loss adjustment expenses of the Company.  

Unpaid claims reserves are estimated on an undiscounted 
basis. Provisions are subject to a detailed quarterly review 

where forecast future cash flows and existing amounts 
provided are reviewed and reassessed. Any changes to 
the amounts held are adjusted through the statement of 
profit or loss.  

The Company applies an actuarial-led reserving process, 
based on an actuarial best estimate plus an explicit 
management margin, which reflects the risk premium 
relating to the uncertainty of the actual level of claims 
incurred. Using an actuarial-led reserving process 
enhances the judgement about the profile of risk over the 
coverage period applied to certain classes of business. 
Consequently, changes in the estimate of claims should be 
considered in conjunction with the impact on earned 
premium.  

Although it is possible that claims could develop and 
exceed the reserves carried, there is a reasonable chance 
of release of reserves from one year to the next. The 
estimated provision for the total level of claims incurred 
changes as more information becomes known about the 
actual losses for which the initial provisions were set up. 
The change in claims costs for prior period insurance 
claims represents the claims development of earlier 
reported years incurred in the current accounting period.  

Details of the Company’s outstanding claims reserves and 
claims development are given in note 10.  

(b) Insurance contract premium 
Gross written premium is recognised on insurance 
contracts incepting during the financial year and includes 
an estimate of the total premium expected to be received 
under each contract. Adjustments to estimates from 
previous years are included in the reported premium. 

With over supply of capital, particularly in the reinsurance 
market, clients have increasingly requested multi-year 
placements of their reinsurance programme. A number of 
contracts include cancellation clauses which can be 
enforced by the client. Judgement is therefore required to 
be applied in calculating the estimated total premium at the 
inception of these contracts. 

The Company has recognised estimated premium income 
(EPI) for the current year and a negative adjustment for 
prior years totalling $693.8 million and $12.5 million 
respectively (2016: $523.9 million and a positive 
adjustment of $5.3 million).  

 

1. Summary of significant accounting policies and critical 
accounting judgements and estimates continued 
 

1. 3 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of 
estimation uncertainty continued 
 

The calculation of EPI is inherently subjective and attained 
through a combination of underwriters’ best estimates at a 
policy level and actuarial techniques at a portfolio level, 
based on observable historical trends. These estimates are 
reviewed on a quarterly basis by underwriters and 
independently assessed by the actuarial and finance 
teams. 

If the estimation of EPI had been 10% lower than 
management’s estimates at 31 December 2017, the 



Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2017 
 

MS Amlin AG 2017 Annual Report     14 

Company’s result on underwriting activities would 
decrease by $6.5 million (2016: $8.2 million) and net 
assets would decrease by $6.0 million (2016: $7.4 million). 

The estimation of earned premium uses judgement about 
the profile of risk over the coverage period of reinsurance 
contracts. Premium is recognised as earned over the 
policy contract period. The earned element is calculated 
separately for each contract on a basis where the premium 
is apportioned over the period of risk. Some classes of 
business may be exposed to a seasonal pattern to the 
incidence of claims. Where this is the case, the earnings 
profile of the related premium is aligned.  

(c) Product classification 
Insurance contracts are defined as those containing 
significant insurance risk if, and only if, an insurance event 
could cause the insurer to make significant additional 
payments in any scenario, excluding scenarios that lack 
commercial substance, at the inception of the contract.  

Contracts entered into by the Company with reinsurers 
under which the Company is compensated for losses on 
contracts issued by the Company and that meet the 
classification requirements for insurance contracts are 
classified as reinsurance contracts held. Insurance 
contracts underwritten by the Company under which the 
contract holder is another insurer (inwards reinsurance) 
are included within insurance contracts. 

The significance of insurance risk is dependent on both the 
probability of an insured event and the magnitude of its 
potential effect. Any contracts not considered to be 
insurance contracts under IFRS 4 are classified as 
financial instruments in accordance with IAS 39.  

Based on the current assessment, all of the products 
underwritten by the Company are insurance contracts 
within the scope of IFRS 4, ‘Insurance contracts’. Certain 
risk transfer contracts held by the Company, for example 
catastrophe linked instruments, do not meet the definition 
of an insurance contract and are therefore accounted for 
as financial instruments in accordance with IAS 39. 

(d) Financial assets and financial liabilities 
Depending on the methods and assumptions used (for 
example, in the fair valuation of Level 2 and Level 3 
financial assets), the fair valuation of financial assets and 
financial liabilities can be subject to estimation uncertainty. 
Details of these methods and assumptions are described 
in note 9(e).  

(e) Intangible assets 
Intangible assets are recognised on internally developed 
computer software which relates to costs directly 
attributable to the development of an IT platform in MS 
Frontier Reinsurance Limited which was acquired during 
the 2016 financial year by the Company (note 3).  
 
The assumptions made by management on initial 
recognition and valuation of intangible assets, together 
with the performance of impairment tests, are subject to 
estimation uncertainty. The results of the impairment test 
may result in the value of the intangible being impaired in 
the current period. Note 12 provides further details on the 
Company’s intangible assets. 
 
 
(f) Tax  

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of 
complex tax regulations and the amount and timing of 
future taxable income. The wide range of international 
business relationships and the long-term nature and 
complexity of existing contractual agreements could 
necessitate future adjustments to tax income and expense 
already recorded. The Company establishes provisions, 
based on reasonable estimates, for possible 
consequences of audits by the tax authorities of the 
respective countries in which it operates. The amount of 
such provisions is based on various factors, such as 
experience of previous tax audits and differing 
interpretations of tax regulations by the Company and the 
responsible tax authority.  

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax 
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will 
be available against which the losses can be utilised. 
Significant management judgement is required to 
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be 
recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of 
future taxable profits, together with future tax planning 
strategies. Note 6 provides further details on the 
Company’s tax balances. 

(g) Retirement benefit obligations 
The Company operates a defined benefit scheme in 
Zurich. The amounts included in these financial statements 
are sensitive to changes in the assumptions used to derive 
the value of the scheme assets and liabilities. Note 13 
provides further details on the Company’s retirement 
benefit obligations. 

1.4 Significant accounting policies 
(a) Insurance contracts liabilities 
Claims paid are defined as those claims transactions 
settled up to the reporting date including external claims 
settlement expenses allocated to those transactions.  

Unpaid claims reserves are made for known or anticipated 
liabilities under insurance contracts which have not been 
settled up to the reporting date. Included within the 
provision is an allowance for the future costs of settling 
those claims. This is estimated based on past experience 
and current expectations of future cost levels.  

The unpaid claims reserves also include, where necessary, 
a reserve for unexpired risks where, at the reporting date, 
the estimated costs of future claims and related deferred 
acquisition costs are expected to exceed the unearned 
premium provision. 

(b) Reinsurance recoveries 
The benefits to which the Company is entitled under its 
reinsurance contracts held are recognised as reinsurance 
assets. These assets consist of short-term balances due 
from reinsurers, as well as longer term receivables that are 
dependent on the expected claims and benefits arising 
under the related reinsured insurance contracts. Amounts 
recoverable from or due to reinsurers are measured 
consistently with the amounts associated with the 
reinsured insurance contracts and in accordance with the 
terms of each reinsurance contract.  

Where there is objective evidence that a reinsurance asset 
is impaired, the Company reduces the carrying amount of 
the reinsurance asset to its recoverable amount and 
recognises that impairment loss in the statement of profit 
or loss. 
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(c) Insurance contracts premium 
Gross written premium comprise premium on insurance 
contracts incepting during the financial year together with 
adjustments to premium written in previous accounting 
periods. Premium is disclosed before the deduction of 
brokerage and taxes or duties levied on them. 

The proportion of gross written premium, gross of 
commission or acquisition costs payable, attributable to 
periods after the reporting date is deferred as a provision 
for unearned premium. The change in this provision is 
taken to profit or loss in order that revenue is recognised 
over the period of the risk. 

Premium is recognised as earned over the policy contract 
period. The earned element is calculated separately for 
each contract on a basis where the premium is 
apportioned over the period of the risk. Some classes of 
business such as US hurricane and West Pacific Typhoon 
may be exposed to a seasonal pattern to the incidence of 
claims. Where this is the case, the earnings profile of the 
related premium is aligned. 

(d) Reinsurance premium ceded 
Reinsurance premium ceded comprise premium on 
reinsurance arrangements bought which incept during the 
financial year, together with adjustments to premiums 
ceded in previous accounting years. The proportion of 
reinsurance premium ceded attributable to periods after 
the reporting date is deferred as reinsurers’ share of 
unearned premium. Reinsurance premium ceded is earned 
over the policy contract period in accordance with the 
terms of the reinsurance contract. 

(e) Acquisition costs 
Acquisition costs comprise brokerage, ceding commissions 
and Federal Excise Tax (FET) taxes incurred on insurance 
contracts written during the financial year. They are 
incurred on the same basis as the earned proportions of 
the premium they relate to. Deferred acquisition costs are 
amortised over the period in which the related revenues 
are earned. Deferred acquisition costs are reviewed at the 
end of each reporting year and are impaired where they 
are no longer considered to be recoverable out of future 
margins in the related revenues. 

(f) Financial assets 
The Company classifies its financial investments at fair 
value through profit or loss (FVPL). Management 
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial 
recognition. This classification requires all fair value 
changes to be recognised immediately within the 
investment return line in the statement of profit or loss. 
Within the FVPL category, fixed income securities, equity 
securities, property funds and certain derivatives are 
classified as ‘trading’ as the Company buys with the 
intention to resell.  

The Company has an investment in unlisted equities which 
are treated as available-for-sale and are measured at fair 
value, unless their fair value cannot be reliably measured, 
in which case they would be valued at cost less 
impairment.  

Changes in the fair value of the available-for-sale 
investments are recognized in other comprehensive 
income in the year in which they arise except for 
impairments which are recognised in profit or loss. They 
are tested for impairment annually, or when events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that impairment might 

have occurred. When securities classified as available-for-
sale are sold, the accumulated fair value adjustments 
recognised in equity are included in the statement of profit 
or loss as gains and losses from investment securities. 

All other assets at FVPL are classified as ‘other than 
trading’ within the FVPL category as they are managed 
and their performance is evaluated on a FVPL basis.  

Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on the 
trade date, which is the date the Company commits to 
purchase or sell the assets. These are initially recognised 
at fair value, and are subsequently re-measured at fair 
value. Transaction costs are recognised directly in the 
statement of profit or loss when incurred. Changes in the 
fair value of investments are included in the statement of 
profit or loss in the year in which they arise. The 
uncertainty around valuation is discussed further in note 
9(g). 
 
(g) Derivative financial instruments 
Derivative financial instruments primarily include currency 
swaps, interest rate futures, catastrophe linked instruments 
and other financial instruments that derive their value 
mainly from underlying interest rates, foreign exchange 
rates or catastrophe risk. Derivatives are initially 
recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative 
contract is entered into. They are subsequently measured 
at fair value, with their fair values obtained from quoted 
market prices or, where these are not available, by using 
valuation techniques such as discounted cash flow models 
or option pricing models. Changes in the fair value of 
derivative instruments are recognised immediately in the 
statement of profit or loss. 

Embedded derivatives with risks and characteristics which 
are not closely related to the host contract, and where the 
combined instrument is not measured at fair value with 
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit 
or loss, are separated from the host contract and 
measured at fair value.  

(h) Intangible assets 
Costs directly attributable to internally developed computer 
software are capitalised and recognised as intangible 
assets by the Company.  

Costs are recognised as intangible assets where they can 
be identified separately and measured reliably and it is 
probable that they will be recovered by directly related 
future economic benefits. Intangible assets are reviewed 
for impairment losses at each reporting date or whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. These intangible 
assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised in line 
with the consumption of the benefits based on the 
estimated useful economic life of the assets, which is 
estimated to be between 3 and 15 years, and is charged to 
other operating expenses in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
(i) Tax 
Income tax expense represents the sum of the current tax 
and deferred tax. 

The current tax is based on taxable profit for the year. 
Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the 
statement of profit or loss because it excludes items of 
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other 
years or that are never taxable or deductible. The 



Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2017 
 

MS Amlin AG 2017 Annual Report     16 

Company’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax 
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the reporting date. 

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial 
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the 
computation of taxable profit and is accounted for using the 
liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally 
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and 
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profits will be available against which 
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.  

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at 
each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax is calculated at the substantively enacted tax 
rates that are expected to apply in the year when the 
liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is 
charged or credited to the statement of profit or loss, 
except when it relates to items charged or credited directly 
to other comprehensive income or equity, in which case 
the deferred tax is also charged or credited to other 
comprehensive income or equity, respectively. 

(j) Employee benefits 
i. Retirement Benefit Plan 
The Company operates a defined contribution scheme in 
Bermuda and Labuan. Its Zurich pension scheme is 
classified as a defined benefit scheme in accordance with 
IAS 19.  

Pension contributions to the defined contribution plan are 
charged to the statement of profit or loss when due.  

The defined benefit obligation and associated pension 
costs are calculated annually by independent actuaries 
using the projected unit credit method. This method sees 
each period of service as giving rise to an additional unit of 
benefit entitlement, and measures each unit separately to 
build up the final liability. The cost of providing these 
benefits is charged to the statement of profit or loss to 
spread the pension cost over the service lives of 
employees. Remeasurements of defined benefit plans 
comprise actuarial gains and losses arising from 
experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions, the return on plan assets (excluding net 
interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any) and are 
recognised in the year during which they arise. 

The liability recognised in the statement of financial 
position in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the 
fair value of plan assets less the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation at the reporting date, together 
with adjustments for restrictions on the recognition of a 
defined benefit asset due to an asset ceiling. The present 
value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by 
discounting the estimated future cash outflows using 
discounted rates set on the basis of the yield of high quality 
debt instruments (AA rated or equivalent) issued by blue 
chip companies, with maturities consistent with those of 
the defined benefit obligations. The fair value of the plan 
assets reflects the benefits that accrue under the insurance 
policy taken out to meet its obligations. 

 
 

ii. Other benefits 
Other employee incentive schemes and long-term service 
awards, including the Capital Builder Plan and sabbatical 
leave, are recognised when they accrue to employees. A 
provision is made for the estimated liability for long-service 
leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to 
the reporting date. 

(k) Foreign currency translation 
The Company presents its financial statements in US 
dollars as the majority of the Company’s net assets, 
liabilities and income are in US dollars. There are also 
revenue streams in sterling, euro, and various other 
currencies. The Company conducts business in a range of 
economic environments, although these are primarily the 
United States of America, the United Kingdom, and 
continental Europe. The Company’s functional currency is 
the US dollar.  

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates 
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities are 
translated at the rates of exchange at the reporting date. 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the 
rate prevailing in the year in which the asset or liability first 
arose, or where such items are revalued, at the latest 
valuation date. Exchange differences are recognised within 
other operating expenses. 

The results and financial position of the Zurich operation 
whose functional currency is the euro are translated into 
US dollars as follows: 

 
 Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial 

position presented are translated at the closing 
exchange rate at the reporting date; 

 Income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss 
presented are translated at the exchange rates at the 
date of each transaction, or a practical approximation to 
these rates; and 

 All resulting exchange differences are recognised in 
other comprehensive income. 

Details of the principal exchange rates used are included in 
note 7(a). 

(l) Other accounting policies 
i. Investment return 
Dividends and any related tax credits are recognised as 
income on the date that the related listed investments are 
marked ex-dividend. Other investment income and interest 
receivable, expenses and interest payable are recognised 
on an accruals basis. 

 
ii. Property and equipment 
Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation and provision for impairment 
where appropriate. Cost includes the original purchase 
price of the asset and the costs attributable to bringing the 
asset to its working condition for its intended use. 
Depreciation is calculated on the straight line method to 
write down the cost of such assets to their residual values 
over their estimated useful lives as follows: 

Computer equipment   33% 
per annum 
Furniture, fixtures and leasehold improvements 20% 
per annum 
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The carrying values of property and equipment are 
reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstance indicate that the carrying value may be 
impaired. If any such condition exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the 
extent of impairment and the difference is charged to the 
statement of profit or loss. 

Gains and losses on disposal of property and equipment 
are determined by reference to their carrying amount and 
are recorded in the statement of profit or loss. Repairs and 
renewals are charged to the statement of profit or loss 
when the expenditure is incurred. 

iii. Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value 
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using an 
effective interest rate. Appropriate allowances for 
estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss when there is evidence that the 
asset is impaired. These are reversed when the triggering 
event that caused the impairment is reversed. 

iv. Finance costs 
Finance costs comprise commissions charged for the 
utilisation of letters of credit. These costs are charged to 
the statement of profit or loss as finance costs as incurred. 
Fees paid for the arrangement of letter of credit facilities 
are charged to finance costs over the life of the facility.  

v. Dividend distribution 
Final dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholder is 
recognised as a liability in the Company’s financial 
statements in the year in which the dividends are approved 
by the Company’s shareholder.  

 
vi. Leases 
Rentals payable under operating leases (after taking into 
account incentives received from the lessor) are charged 
to the statement of profit or loss on a straight line basis 
over the period of the lease, which is representative of the 
time pattern of the Company’s benefit. 
 

vii. Other payables 
Other payables are initially recognised at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. They represent 
liabilities to pay for goods or services that have been 
received or supplied in the normal course of business, 
invoiced by the supplier before the year end, but for which 
payment has not yet been made. 

2. Capital 
The capital structure of the Company comprises issued 
capital, reserves, and retained earnings as disclosed in the 
statement of changes in equity.  

Other reserves presented in the 2016 financial Statement 
have been reclassified to conform to the 2017 financial 
statement presentation. 

During the current and prior financial years, the Company 
complied with all externally imposed capital requirements 
to which it is subject. The Company is domiciled in 
Switzerland and supervised by the Swiss Financial Market 
Authority (FINMA).  

FINMA supervision is composed of various qualitative 
assessments, governance requirements and minimum 

solvency levels. The European Commission recognised 
the Swiss insurance supervision system as equivalent to 
the Solvency II Directive. This decision entered into force 
in October 2015. The Company provides regulatory 
solvency reporting to FINMA under the rules of the Swiss 
Solvency Test (SST). The SST is based on an economic 
view and required capital is derived from an internal capital 
model.  

The Company’s SST model had a temporary approval from 
FINMA until 31 December 2015, which was extended in 
2016, 2017 and 2018.  

For the year ended 31 December 2017, The Company 
calculated a SST ratio of 212% (unaudited). The minimum 
ratio for the SST is set at 100%. The Company is expected 
to exceed the minimum ratios for the year ending 31 
December 2018. 

For trading purposes, The Company believes that it is 
necessary to hold at least US$1.0 billion (unaudited) of 
capital, which is currently in excess of the minimum 
required by FINMA. 
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3. Merger and acquisitions 
Acquisition of subsidiaries 
On 31 December 2016, as part of a reorganisation within 
the Parent, MS Amlin Plc sold 100% of its interest in the 
issued share capital and voting rights of MS Frontier 
Reinsurance Limited (“MSFR”) to the Company, in 
exchange for a share in the Company immediately before 
a legal merger was effected between MSFR and the 
Company.  

Acquisition accounting 
The Company applied its accounting policy to use merger 
accounting for transactions involving businesses under 
common control. Therefore, no goodwill was recognised on 
acquisition of MSFR. Consequently a merger reserve was 
created on the difference between the fair value of 
consideration and carrying value of net assets acquired 
after deduction of retained earnings and reserves acquired. 
This forms part of 2016’s Retained Earnings. The results of 
MSFR and its subsidiary have been included in the 
Company’s results from the date of acquisition 31 
December 2016.  

Acquired net assets and consideration 
As part of the business combination under common control 
above, net assets were acquired at their IFRS carrying 
values after alignment of accounting policies. These are 
set out in the table below. 

 

 

  2016
MSFR

 $m

Assets  
Cash and cash equivalents  1,197.0
Financial investments  1.4
Reinsurance assets  10.9 
Deferred tax assets  – 
Deferred acquisition costs  9.0 
Other assets  80.1 
Total assets  1,298.4 
Liabilities   
Insurance liabilities  147.9 
Deferred tax liabilities  – 
Other liabilities  15.5 
Total liabilities  163.4 
Net assets  1,135.0 
Retained earnings and reserves 
acquired 

 590.4 

Merger reserve arising on acquisition  58.2 
Fair value of consideration  486.4 
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4. Net investment return 
 

  
2017 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

Investment income     
– dividend income   17,640    18,394  
– interest income   9,602    8,032  
– cash and cash equivalents interest income   1,571     692  
   28,813    27,118  
Net realised gains/(losses) on assets held for trading     
– equity securities   59,366    8,827  
– debt securities   70,644    11,105  
– property funds   (10)   (6,427) 
– derivative instruments   (36,927)   (31,289) 
– derivative instruments relating to the Company’s contracts with Tramline Re Ltd and 
Tramline Re II Ltd   

 (16,500)   (21,992) 

on assets classified as other than trading     
– participation in investment pools   4,044     225  
   80,617    (39,551) 
Net unrealised gains/(losses) on assets held for trading      
– equity securities   35,715    7,297 
– debt securities   (48,186)   9,873 
– property funds   13,339    11,016  
– derivative instruments   420    9,856 
on assets classified as other than trading      
– participation in investment pools  884    (199) 
   2,172    37,843 
  111,602    25,410  
Note: Included within debt securities held for trading are realised gains and unrealised losses of $27.1 million and $32.7 million respectively, relating to the 

investment in the funds managed by Leadenhall Capital Partners LLP (2016: $3.4 million realised losses and $3.1 million unrealised gains). 
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5. Expenses  
 
a) Other operating expenses 
 

 Note 
2017 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

Administrative expenses   113,837   88,976  
Foreign exchange (gains)/losses   (6,272)  18,992  
   107,565   107,968  
 
b) Employee benefit expenses  
 
The aggregate payroll costs incurred by the Company are analysed as follows:  

 Note 
2017 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

Wages and salaries   29,841   19,740  
Employee incentive and related social security costs   12,502    8,796  
Equity settled share options and awards granted to Directors and employees   -    888  
Pension costs  13  2,948    2,723  
Other   4,135    2,905  
   49,426   35,052  
 
c) Cash-settled share-based payment schemes 
Capital Builder Plan 
The Company rewards senior underwriters through payments under the Capital Builder Plan (the Plan) if they achieve 
performance below the target loss ratio for their class(es) of business or business area over the five-year period of each award 
under the Plan. Under the scheme rules, the Company has the option to settle the awarded bonus in the shares of the 
Company or as a cash payment. As Company shares are no longer available to employees settlement is now cash payment 
only. The last year of award under the Plan was 2014 and no new awards are anticipated. 

Provision for payments of an award under the Plan is calculated every year where actual profits exceed the target profit on a 
cumulative basis over the performance period to date under the Plan. The rate of accrual for each five-year performance period 
is determined at the start of the period, reflecting the share of the excess return payable and committed under the terms of the 
Plan. 

Under this approach, the services received and the related liability are recognised as the services are rendered, in that the 
liability at any point in time for the Plan reflects the level of actual performance by underwriters in relation to the target.  

The carrying amount of the liability under the Plan at 31 December 2017 is $0.7 million (2016: $0.9 million) and is recorded in 
other payables. 

d) Finance costs 
 

 
2017 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

Letter of credit costs   1,898   2,067 
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6. Tax 
The corporation tax rate for profits earned in Bermuda is currently nil% (2016: nil%). The combined corporate tax rate which is 
applicable to profits arising for the Zurich operation only, of Swiss cantonal (13.3%) and federal taxes (7.8%), is rounded to 
21.2% (2016: 21.2%). The tax credit in the Income Statement of $4.8 million (2016: charge of $8.6 million) is a combination of 
deferred tax movements and irrecoverable withholding tax, with any difference being attributed to foreign exchange on 
translation to USD.   

 
2017 2016 

$’000 $’000 

(Loss)/profit before tax    (246,538)    54,733  

Expected tax charge/(credit) at 21.2%    (52,143)    11,576  

Non-taxable income/(loss) Bermuda and MSF Branch     37,206     (18,488) 

Non-recoverable withholding tax (Bermuda Branch)       842      2,009  

Current year tax losses for which no DTA (federal tax) was recognized       687      3,310  

Current year tax losses for which no DTA (cantonal tax) was recognized      5,061      5,631  

Prior year adjustment       60      4,968  

Unrecognised DTA on GAAP difference      559       794  

Other including FX      2,905     (1,169) 

Total tax (credit)/charge      (4,823)     8,632  

 

The table below reflects the deferred tax movements during the current and prior year: 

  
2017 2016 

$’000 $’000 

Beginning balance (9,797) (2,940) 

Prior year charges 0 (4,574) 

Current year deferred tax charges 5,728 (1,994) 

Deferred taxes charged to OCI 88 (356) 

Currency revaluation  (995) 67 

Year end deferred tax liability (4,976) (9,797) 

 

In 2017, the Company incurred $0.8m (2016 $2.1 million) of non-recoverable withholding taxes on investment income.  

A current tax liability of $0.2 million (2016: $1.0 million) exists in respect of the Swiss branch of MSFR. The account is in the 
process of being closed with the Swiss tax authorities as from 1 January 2017 onwards, the MSFR results are taxed within the 
MS Amlin AG tax return. 
 
The deferred tax liability of $5.0 million (2016: $9.8 million) reflects temporary timing differences which may crystalize in the 
future. Deferred tax has been provided for at the expected local tax rate for the period when the temporary timing differences 
are expected to reverse.   

The table below reflects the deferred tax positions at 31.December 2017. 
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2017 2016 

$’000 $’000 

Deferred Tax Assets    

Tax losses (Swiss CO) – losses carried forward   2,475      -  

Claims Provision-IBNR-Margin   3,623    2,306  

Retirement Benefit Scheme     97      11  

Other Reserves (IAS 19)   1,636    1,354  

Revaluation of FX adjustment    177     155  

Deferred Tax Liabilities 

Deferred Acquisition Cost  (12,524)  (10,884) 

RI Share of Claims Provision-IBNR-Margin    (94)    (413) 

Investments    (163)   (2,215) 

Margins and collaterals debtors    (53)     (5) 

Other FX on adjustments    (150)    (106) 

Year end deferred tax liability   (4,976)   (9,797) 

 

7. Foreign Exchange 
a) Principal exchange rates 
The principal exchange rates used in translating foreign currency assets, liabilities, income and expenditure in the production of 
these financial statements were: 

 Average rate Year end rate 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 

Sterling 0.78 0.74 0.74 0.81 
Euro 0.89 0.90 0.83 0.95 
New Zealand dollar 1.41 1.44 1.41 1.44 
Australian dollar 1.30 1.35 1.32 1.38 
Japanese yen 112.14 108.89 112.66 116.84 
 
b) Foreign exchange risk 
The exposures to translation, revaluation and asset liability currency matching risk combine to form the Company’s overall 
exposure to foreign exchange risk. The Company holds asset and liability balances in major base currencies of US dollars, 
Sterling, Euro, New Zealand dollars, and Japanese yen.  

Translation risk 
Foreign exchange translation risk arises when business is written in non-functional currencies. These transactions are 
translated into the functional currencies at the prevailing spot rate at the inception date of the premium. Consequently, there is 
exposure to currency movements between the inception date and the date the premium is received. Claims incurred in non-
functional currencies are recorded at the prevailing spot rate on the date of the loss event (or suitable equivalent) and then 
translated back from the functional currency at the time a claim is to be settled; therefore the Company is exposed to exchange 
rate risk between the date the claim is made and the date of settlement.  

If the EUR/USD exchange rate were to improve by 10% at 31 December 2017, this would result in an additional exchange gain 
of $6.1 million (2016: $6.6 million) recognised in other comprehensive income. The same exchange rate deterioration would 
result in an additional $6.1 million (2016: $6.6 million) exchange loss through other comprehensive income.  

Asset liability matching by currency risk 
Underwriting assets are primarily held in the base currencies of US dollar, Sterling, Euros, New Zealand dollars, and Japanese 
yen, which represent the majority of the Company’s liabilities by currency, thus limiting the underwriting asset liability matching 
currency risk. 

The table below presents the Company’s assets and liabilities by currency. The amounts are stated in the US dollar equivalent 
of the local currency, in order that the amounts can be reconciled to the Company’s statement of financial position. The local 
currency amounts have been converted into US dollar using the exchange rates as disclosed in note 7(a).  
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 31 December 2017  

Currency risk 
$ 

$’000 
Sterling  

$’000 
Euro  

$’000 
NZ$ 

$’000 
JPY  

$’000 
Total  
$’000 

Total assets   3,355,828    555,278    1,090,116     59,286   56,242   5,116,750  
Total liabilities   1,990,895    528,890     788,142     15,052   25,982   3,348,961  
Net assets   1,364,933     26,388     301,974     44,234   30,260   1,767,789  
 

 31 December 2016  

Currency risk 
$ 

$’000 
Sterling  

$’000 
Euro  

$’000 
NZ$ 

$’000 
JPY  

$’000 
Total  
$’000 

Total assets  3,681,911    414,092  874,279  69,230  40,001  5,079,513  
Total liabilities  1,398,645    399,679  670,191  35,860  21,715  2,526,090  
Net assets  2,283,266    14,413  204,088  33,370  18,286  2,553,423  
 
If the base currencies were to improve/deteriorate by 10%, the movement in the monetary net underwriting assets and liabilities 
of the Company would result in the following (losses)/gains in the Company’s profit or loss at 31 December 2017:  
 
 31 December 2017 

Currency  

10% 
Deterioration  

$’000 

10% 
Improvement  

$’000 

Sterling     (9,081)    11,099  
Euro    (33,322)    40,727  
New Zealand dollar     (2,276)     2,782  
Japanese Yen     (3,362)     4,109  

   (48,041)    58,717  
 
Further foreign exchange risk arises until non-USD profits or losses are converted into the functional currencies. The Company 
aims to match assets and liabilities by major currency, which includes the option to actively sell underwriting profits earned in 
non-functional currencies as they crystallise. 

 

8. Dividend 
On 26 April 2017, the Directors recommended for approval by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held on the 
same date the payment of a $554.0 million dividend. The dividend payment was approved by the shareholders and was paid 8 
May 2017. 

On 25 April 2016, the Directors recommended for approval by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held on the 
same date the payment of a $173.9 million dividend. The dividend payment was approved by the shareholders and was paid in 
two shared payments of $172.4 million on 28 April 2016 and $1.5 million on 29 April 2016. 

 

9. Financial assets and liabilities 
a) Other loans and receivables 
 

 Note 
2017 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

Other receivables     17,435    24,121  
Prepayments and other accrued income      6,684     2,663  
Intercompany debtors 16(a)    434      14  
  24,553 26,798 
 
Other receivables comprise principally of amounts receivable for financial investments sold. Other loans and receivables are 
expected to be current. 

The carrying amounts disclosed above are reasonably approximate to the fair value at the reporting date. 

b) Related party loan 
On 29 November 2017, the Company advanced $230.0 million to the Parent as a one year, fixed term loan. The loan facility 
expires on 28 November 2018; interest is payable at 0.8% above the US$ London Interbank Offered Rate. At 31 December 
2017, $230.5 million loan and interest remains outstanding. 

In February 2014, the Company agreed to refinance and extend the $161.0 million unsecured loan facility that was originally 
entered into in November 2011 with the Parent. This loan and interest of $163.3 million were repaid on 8 May 2017. 
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c) Other payables 
 

 Note 
2017  
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

Accrued expenses and deferred income      9,945    18,669  
Other liabilities       1,532    6,155  
Social security and other tax payables      2,261     1,577  
Intercompany creditors 16(a)     9,642    24,121  
     23,380    50,522  
 
The current and non-current portions are expected to be as follows: 
 

 
2017  
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

Current portion    23,380  48,936  
Non-current portion     -  1,586  
    23,380  50,522  

Other liabilities comprise principally of amounts payable to investment managers for financial investments purchased and other 
sundry payables. 

The carrying amounts disclosed above are reasonably approximate to the fair value at the reporting date.  

d) Borrowings 
The Company has three LOC facilities of US$450.0 million (2016: US$250.0 million), US$85.0 million (2016: US$60 million) 
and NZ$75.0 million (2016: NZ$75.0 million). The US$450.0 million facility is secured by a registered charge over a portfolio of 
assets managed by Fiera Capital with BNP Paribas as custodian. The US$85.0 million facility is secured by time deposits held 
at Barclays Bank. The NZ$75.0 million LOC is secured by time deposits held at National Australia Bank. As at 31 December 
2017, US$370.3 million of LOC were issued (2016: US$254.3 million). The total value of restricted assets as at 31 December 
2017 was US$445.7 million (2016: US$302.0 million). 

 
e) Fair value hierarchy 
i) Fair value methodology 
For financial instruments carried at fair value the Company has categorised the measurement basis into a fair value hierarchy 
as follows: 

Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. An active market is one in which 
transactions for the asset occurs with sufficient frequency and volume to provide readily and regularly available quoted prices. 

Level 2 – Inputs to a valuation model other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 

Level 3 – Inputs to a valuation model for the asset that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) and are 
significant to the overall fair value measurement. Unobservable inputs may have been used to measure fair value to the extent 
that observable inputs are not available, thereby allowing for situations in which there is little, if any, market activity for the asset 
at the measurement date (or market information for the inputs to any valuation models). As such, unobservable inputs reflect 
the assumptions which it considers market participants would use in pricing the asset. 

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the year. 

Shares and other variable yield securities 
Listed equities traded on a primary exchange in an active market are classified as Level 1.  

Debt and other fixed income securities  
The fair value is based upon quotes from pricing services where available. These pricing services derive prices based on an 
average of quotes provided by brokers. Where multiple quotes are not available, the fair value is based upon evaluated pricing 
services, which typically use proprietary cash flow models and incorporate observable market inputs, such as credit spreads, 
benchmark quotes, and other trade data. If such services do not provide coverage of the asset, then fair value is determined 
manually using indicative broker quotes, which are corroborated by recent market transactions in similar or identical assets. 

Where there is an active market for these assets and their fair value is the unadjusted quoted market price, these are classified 
as Level 1. This is typically the case for government bonds. Level 1 also includes bond funds, where fair value is based upon 
quoted market prices. Where the market is inactive or the price is adjusted, but significant market observable inputs have been 
used by the pricing sources, then these are considered to be Level 2. This is typically the case for government agency debt, 
corporate debt, mortgage and asset backed securities, and catastrophe bonds.  
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Property funds 
The Company’s property fund portfolios are valued using the most recent net asset value provided by the fund managers. The 
net asset values, which may be a quarter in arrears, are determined by the fund managers using proprietary cash flow models. 
In such cases, adjustments may be made to bring the net asset value to a more current valuation. The inputs into that 
valuation, such as discount rates, are primarily unobservable and, as such, these assets are classified as Level 3. Where an 
investment is made into a new property fund the transaction price is considered to be the fair value if it is the most recent price 
available.  

Participation in investment pools 
These are units held in money market funds and the value is based upon unadjusted, quoted and executable prices provided 
by the fund manager and these are classified as Level 1.  

Derivatives 
Listed derivative contracts, such as futures, that are actively traded are valued using quoted prices from the relevant exchange 
and are classified as Level 1. Over-the-counter currency options are valued by the counterparty using quantitative models with 
multiple market inputs such as foreign exchange rate volatility. The market inputs are observable and the valuation can be 
validated through external sources. These are classified as Level 2. The Company’s risk transfer contracts with Tramline Re II 
Ltd have been classified as a derivative instrument. The valuation of these instruments is based on forecast cash flow models 
which contain principally unobservable market inputs, and as such are classified as Level 3. 
 
ii) Net financial investments by fair value grouping 
 
 
 Fair Value Hierarchy  Fair Value Hierarchy  

 
Level 1 

$’000 
Level 2 

$’000 
Level 3 

$’000 

Total 
2017 
$’000 

Level 1 
$’000 

Level 2 
$’000 

Level 3 
$’000 

Total  
2016 
$’000 

Assets         
Financial assets held for trading  
at fair value through profit or loss         
Shares and other variable yield 
securities    432,258        -      85     432,343  378,972 – – 378,972 

Debt and other fixed income 
securities 

   366,582  1,647,778       -  2,014,360  1,519,487 104,333 – 1,623,820 

Property funds       -        -    371,939     371,939  – – 279,408 279,408 
Derivative instruments      869       699     2,745      4,313  – 11,582 1,310 12,892 
Other financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss         

Participation in investment pools    109,548      9,619       -     119,167  117,731 – – 117,731 
Deposits with credit institutions    98,645        -       -     98,645  56,944 – – 56,944 
Available for sale financial assets         
Unlisted equities       -        -     4,891      4,891  - - -  

Other 
Loans and receivables 

-  24,773 24,773 - - 26,798 26,798 

Cash and cash equivalent 326,149   326,149 1,291,133   1,291,133 
Related Party Loan 230,457   230,457 163,237   163,237 
Total financial assets 1,564,508 1,658,096 404,433 3,627,037 3,527,504 115,915 307,516 3,950,935 
Liabilities         
Financial liabilities held for trading  
at fair value through profit or loss         
Derivative instruments     (2,147)     (3,083)      -     (5,231) – (495) – (495) 
Financial liabilities at amortised 
cost 
Other payables 

- - (23,380) (23,380) - - (50,522) (50,522) 

Total liabilities     (2,147)     (3,083)    (23,380)     (28,610) – (495) (50,522) (51,017) 
Net financial assets 1,562,361 1,655,013   381,053 3,598,426  3,527,504 115,420 256,994 3,899,918 
 

 
iii) Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy 
The Company’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels at the end of the relevant 
reporting period during which the transfers are deemed to have occurred 
During 2017 the level 3 investments for Shares and other variable yield securities have increased by $85’000, of which $49’000 
are reclassified from level 1 investments.  
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The table below analyses the movements in assets and liabilities classified as Level 3 investments during 2017. 

   

Total  
2017 
$’000 

At 1 January 2017    280,718  
Total net gains/(losses) recognised in investment return in the statement of profit or loss     (3,152) 
Purchases     69,445  
Settlements     17,936  
Transfers into Level 3      49  
Foreign exchange gains   14,774  
Gains/(losses) through OCI on AFS   (109) 
At 31 December 2017    379,661  
Total net unrealised gains or losses for the year recognised in investment return in  
profit or loss for assets and liabilities held at the end of the reporting year    (13,759) 
 

   

Total  
2016 
$’000 

At 1 January 2016    251,769  
Total net gains/(losses) recognised in investment return in profit or loss    (12,240) 
Purchases     24,110  
Settlements    22,242  
Foreign exchange losses    (5,163) 
At 31 December 2016    280,718  
Total net unrealised gains or losses for the year recognised in investment return in  
profit or loss for assets and liabilities held at the end of the reporting year 

  
 (20,872) 

 
f) Financial risk management 
The following section describes the Company’s investment risk management from a quantitative and qualitative perspective.  

The Company has two main categories of assets: 

 Underwriting assets – premium received and held to meet future insurance claims. 

 Capital assets – capital required by the regulators to support the underwriting business plus working capital and surplus 
funds. These assets do not have specific current liabilities attached to them. 

Investment governance 
The Company manages its investments in accordance with the investment governance framework set by the Company’s Board 
of Directors. This framework determines investment governance and the investment risk tolerance. It is reviewed on a regular 
basis to ensure that the Board of Directors’ fiduciary and regulatory responsibilities are being met. Day to day management of 
the investments is delegated to members of the Company’s executive who are advised by the Parent’s Chief Investment 
Officer. 

Risk tolerance 
Investment risk tolerance is set by the Supervisory Board. This is based on a Value at Risk.  

Investment risk is monitored using a market-recognised third-party model and is independently reviewed by the Parent’s risk 
function. Risk reports are regularly reviewed by the Supervisory Board. 

Strategic asset allocation 
The strategic asset allocation is set according to the Company’s risk tolerance and liabilities. The strategic asset allocation for 
capital assets is set by using a Value at Risk (VaR1) model, to determine the optimum asset allocation for the current risk 
tolerance which ensures that appropriate solvency levels are maintained. The expected timescale for future cash flows in each 
currency is calculated; the average of these forms the basis of the asset liability duration management. Tactical ranges around 
these strategic asset allocations provide flexibility to ensure that an appropriate risk/reward balance is maintained in changing 
investment markets. 

  

Note: 

1.VaR is statistical measure, which calculates the possible loss over a year, in normal market conditions. As VaR estimates are based on historical market data this 

should not be viewed as an absolute gauge of the level of risk to the investments. 
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Investment management 
Investments are run on a multi-asset, multi-manager basis. Exposure to the asset classes is achieved using physical holdings 
of the asset class or derivative instruments, on a segregated or pooled basis. Manager selection is based on a range of criteria 
that leads to the expectation that they will add value to the funds over the medium to long-term. The managers have discretion 
to manage the funds on a day-to-day basis within investment guidelines or prospectuses applicable to their funds that ensure 
that they comply with the investment governance frameworks. The managers’ performance, compliance and risk are monitored 
on an ongoing basis.  

The industry and geographical allocation of the company’s investments were as follows: 

 
31 December 2017 31 December 2016 

Industry 

Global Total Global Total 
equities % equities % 

%   % 

Oil & gas -   - 2.3 2.3 

Basic materials  - - 4.3 4.3 

Industrials 18.2 18.2 12.7 12.7 

Consumer goods & services 19.7 19.7 17.1 17.1 

Healthcare 23.6 23.6 24.0 24.0 

Miscellaneous -  - 2.0 2.0 

Government guaranteed -  - - - 

Telecommunications 10.2 10.2 10.0 10.0 

Utilities 2.1 2.1 1.2 1.2 

Financials 16.0 16.0 16.9 16.9 

Technology 10.2 10.2 9.5 9.5 

  100 100 100 100 

Note: The table above excludes government bonds and pooled vehicles. 

  31 December 2017 31 December 2016 

Region 

Bonds 
Global 

equities 
Total Bonds 

Global 
equities 

Total 

% % % % % % 

   

United Kingdom 15.1 7.1 13.7 4.9 8.5 5.7 

United States and Canada 58.3 56.3 58.0 71.9 57.4 68.9 

Europe (excluding United Kingdom) 25.7 17.2 24.2 13.7 16.6 14.2 

Far East 0.9 19.4 4.1 6.6 11.9 7.7 

Emerging markets -  - - 2.9 5.6 3.5 

  100 100 100 100 100 100 

Note: The table above includes all bond and equity investments, but excludes pooled vehicles. 

 

g) Market risk 
Market risk concerns the risks associated with valuation, interest rates, liquidity and counterparty credit. Foreign exchange risk 
is described in note 7(b). 

The Company has an established control framework with respect to fair value measurement which ensures the valuation of 
financial assets and financial liabilities meets the requirements of IFRS. As part of this process the Company reviews the 
valuation policies of its custodians along with the evidence provided by the custodians to support fair value measurement. The 
prices are also reconciled to the fund managers’ records to check for reasonableness. 

As an additional level of governance over pricing, the Company validates the prices provided by pricing vendor sources against 
information obtained from Bloomberg where available. A review of stale prices was also conducted at 31 December 2017; 
though the impact of stale prices on the Company’s investment valuation is considered immaterial. Further details on the fair 
value measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities are included in note 9(e). 
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The valuation of investments in shares and other variable yield securities are sensitive to equity risk. The impact on profit 
before tax of a 1% improvement/deterioration in the total market value of shares and other variable yield securities would be a 
$4.3 million gain/loss (2016: $3.8 million). Sensitivities in relation to other risks are considered in the following pages and note 
7(b). 

Interest rate risk 
Investors’ expectations for interest rates will impact bond yields1. Therefore the value of the Company’s bond holdings is 
subject to fluctuation as bond yields rise and fall. If yields fall the capital value will rise, and vice versa. The sensitivity of the 
price of a bond is indicated by its duration2. The greater the duration of a security, the greater its possible price volatility. 
Typically, the longer the maturity of a bond, the greater its duration. The maturity bands of the Company’s bond holdings as at 
31 December 2017 are shown below. 

  
31 December 2017 

$’000 
31 December 2017 

$’000 

Less than 1 year   220,206   374,907  
1-2 years   147,880   148,478  
    368,086   523,385  
 
Note: The table above excludes pooled investments of $1,648.5 million (2016: $1,101.9 million). 

The duration of underwriting assets is set with reference to the duration of the underlying liabilities. It should be noted that the 
liabilities are not currently discounted and therefore their value is not impacted by interest rate movements. Cash is raised, or 
the duration of the portfolio reduced, if it is believed that yields may rise and therefore capital values will fall.  

The average durations of the bond and cash portfolios for the underwriting assets and associated insurance liabilities as at 31 
December 2017 were as follows: 

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 

Underwriting assets 
Assets  
Years 

Liabilities 
Years 

Assets  
Years 

Liabilities 
 Years 

Sterling     (0.1)     5.7     0.9     5.7  
US dollar     (0.3)      2.5     0.1     2.5  
Euro     (0.2)     5.0     (0.5)    5.0  
 
Note: The table above includes pooled vehicles. US dollars include New Zealand dollars, Australian dollars and Japanese yen. 

The asset durations above are calculated by the custodian and are checked against those reported by the fund managers. 
Liabilities durations are calculated by the actuarial team.  

An indication of the potential sensitivity of the bond and cash funds to changes in yield is shown below. 

Bonds – 31 December 2017 Underwriting Corporate Net (reduction)/ increase in value 

Shift in yield (basis points) $m 

100 0.2 0.6 6.5 

75 0.2 0.4 4.9 

50 0.1 0.3 3.3 

25 0.1 0.1 1.6 

-25 (0.1) (0.1) (1.6) 

-50 (0.1) (0.3) (3.3) 

-75 (0.2) (0.4) (4.9) 

-100 (0.2) (0.6) (6.5) 
 

Note: 

1. The yield is the rate of return paid if a security is held to maturity. The calculation is based on the coupon rate, length of time to maturity and the market price. It 

assumes coupon interest paid over the life of the security is reinvested at the same rate. 
2. The duration is the weighted average maturity of the security’s cash flows, where the present values of the cash flows serve as the weights. 

 

¨ 
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Liquidity risk 
It is important that the Company can pay its obligations as they fall due. Levels of cash are therefore managed on a daily basis 
and buffers of liquid assets are held in excess of the immediate requirements. This is to reduce the risk of being forced sellers 
of any of the Company’s assets, which may result in realising prices below fair value, especially in periods of below normal 
investment market liquidity.  

Liquidity, in the event of a major disaster, is tested regularly using internal cash flow forecasts and realistic disaster scenarios. If 
a major insurance event occurs the investment strategy is reviewed to ensure that sufficient liquidity is also available in the 
assets. 

The following table indicates the expected timing of cash flows: 

 
Expected cash flows (undiscounted) 

 

31 December 2017 0-1 yr 1-3 yrs 3-5 yrs >5 yrs 
Carrying 
amount 

Insurance liabilities $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Outstanding claims 1,192,216 401,617 212,229 364,316 2,170,379 

Less reinsurers’ share of outstanding claims (155,146) (57,165) (36,841) (2,056) (251,207) 

Total 1,037,071 344,452 175,388 362,260 1,919,172 

 

  Expected cash flows (undiscounted)   

31 December 2016 0-1 yr 1-3 yrs 3-5 yrs >5 yrs 
Carrying 
amount 

Insurance liabilities $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Outstanding claims 696,869 386,129 164,735 186,229 1,433,962 

Less reinsurers’ share of outstanding claims (23,7 35) (973) (1,674) -  (26,382) 

Total 673,134 385,156 163,061 186,229 1,407,580 

 

A breakdown of the current and non-current portions of the other non-derivative financial liabilities is available in note 9(c).  

Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that the Company becomes exposed to a loss if a specific counterparty fails to perform its contractual 
obligations in a timely manner, impacting the Company’s ability to meet its claims as they fall due. Credit risk can also arise 
from underlying causes that have an impact upon the creditworthiness of all counterparties of a particular description or 
geographical location. The Company’s credit risk is mitigated by the collateral received from counterparties, details of which are 
given in note 9(i). The Company is exposed to credit risk in its investment portfolio and with its premium and reinsurance 
receivables. The table below shows the breakdown at 31 December 2017 of the exposure of the bond portfolio, liquidity funds 
and reinsurance receivables by credit quality1. 

31 December 2017 

Debt  
Securities1 

$’000 % 

Liquidity  
funds 
$’000 % 

Insurance and 
reinsurance 
receivables2 

$’000 % 

Reinsurers’ 
share of  

outstanding 
claims 
$’000 % 

AAA   368,086     18.3       -      -         -       -       44,270     17.6  
AA  -   -     99,383     45.6         -       -        833      0.3  
A  -   -      3,041      1.4         -       -       6,351      2.5  
BBB  -   -       -      -         -       -        624      0.2  
Other 1,648,485     81.7    115,388     53.0      1,027,224    100.0      199,129     79.4  
 2,016,571    100.0    217,812    100.0      1,027,224    100.0      251,207    100.0  
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31 December 2016 

Debt  
Securities1 

$’000 % 

Liquidity  
funds 
$’000 % 

Insurance 
and 

reinsurance 
receivables2 

$’000 % 

Reinsurers’ 
share of  

outstanding 
claims 
$’000 % 

AAA 523,385  32.3   117,747     9.6  – – – – 

AA 564,249  34.7    4,384     0.4  – – 2,032  7.7  
A 334,879  20.6  1,109,559    90.0  – – 15,294  58.0  
BBB 102,822  6.3  – – – – – – 
Other 99,950  6.1  – – 901,211  100.0  9,056  34.3  
 1,625,285  100.0  1,231,690   100.0  901,211  100.0  26,382  100.0  
 
Note: 

1. Credit ratings on debt securities are BNP Paribas composite ratings based on Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch, depending on which agency/agencies rate 

each bond. 

2. Other insurance and reinsurance receivables includes premium receivable from policyholders and intermediaries that are not rated.  

 

i) Insurance and reinsurance 
The table includes premium receivables, representing amounts due from policyholders. The quality of these receivables is not 
graded, but based on historical experience there is limited default risk relating to these amounts. Premium credit risk is 
managed through a number of controls that include broker approval, annual financial review and internal rating of brokers and 
regular monitoring of premium settlement performance. 

Also included are reinsurance receivables which represent the amounts due at 31 December 2017, as well as amounts 
expected to be recovered on unpaid outstanding claims (including IBNR) in respect of earned risks. These are stated net of 
provisions for impairment. The credit risk in respect of reinsurance receivables including reinsurers’ share of outstanding 
claims, is primarily managed by review and approval of reinsurance security by the Parent’s Reinsurance Security Committee, 
prior to the purchase of the reinsurance contract. Guidelines are set, and monitored, that restrict the purchase of reinsurance 
security based on the Parent’s own ratings for each reinsurer and Standard & Poor’s ratings. The Company holds collateral 
from certain reinsurers including those that are non-rated as security against potential default. The details of reinsurance 
collaterals held and placed with third party trust funds are provided in note 9(i). At 31 December 2017, the Company held 
collateral of $nil (2016: $3.3 million). The impact on profit before tax of a 1% variation in reinsurance assets would be $2.5 
million (2016: $0.3 million). The details of overdue reinsurance assets and insurance receivables are provided in notes 10(a) 
and 10(e). 

ii) Investments 
The majority of the Company’s derivative transactions with respect to currency forwards are subject to International Swaps and 
Derivatives Association (ISDA) master netting agreements. Transactions under such agreements meet the criteria for offsetting 
in the Company’s statement of financial position. The Company’s listed futures are transacted under Global Principal Clearing 
agreements and are not subject to offsetting in the statement of financial position. In addition, the Company and its 
counterparties do not intend to settle on a net basis or to realise the assets and the liabilities simultaneously.  

h) Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 
The disclosure provided in the tables below include derivatives that are set off in the Company’s statement of financial position.  

Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements 
 

31 December 2017 

Gross amounts of  
recognised 

financial assets 
$’000 

Gross amounts of recognised 
financial liabilities set off in the 

statement  
of financial position 

$’000 

Net amounts of financial assets 
presented in the statement  

of financial position 
$’000 

Derivative instruments held for trading      356,348        (352,035)         4,313  
 

31 December 2016 

Gross amounts of 
recognised  

financial assets 
$’000 

Gross amounts of recognised 
financial liabilities set off in the 

statement  
of financial position 

$’000 

Net amounts of financial assets 
presented in the statement 

 of financial position 
$’000 

Derivative instruments held for trading 300,729 (289,147) 11,582 
  
Financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements 

31 December 2017 Gross amounts Gross amounts of recognised Net amounts of financial liabilities 
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of recognised 
financial liabilities 

$’000 

financial assets set off in the 
statement  

of financial position 
$’000 

presented in the statement  
of financial position 

$’000 

Derivative instruments held for trading      357,265        (352,035)         5,230  
 

31 December 2016 

Gross amounts 
of recognised  

financial 
liabilities 

$’000 

Gross amounts of recognised 
financial assets set off in the 

statement  
of financial position 

$’000 

Net amounts of financial liabilities 
presented in the statement  

of financial position 
$’000 

Derivative instruments held for trading 289,642 (289,147) 495 

 
i) Restricted funds held/placed by the Company 
At 31 December 2017, the Company holds restricted funds in the form of letter of credit (LOC) collaterals, initial margin calls on 
derivative financial instruments, and collateral received from reinsurance counterparties.  

Trust Funds 
At 31 December 2017, cash and cash equivalents with a fair value of $41.1 million (2016: $40.8 million) have been deposited in 
trust by the Company for the benefit of U.S. ceding companies. These funds are held in trust by a U.S. based bank.  

LOC facilities 
At 31 December 2017, $445.7 million (2016: $302.0 million) of assets are restricted for use by the Company. These assets are 
collateral for the LOC facilities drawn at the end of the year. Details are included in note 9(d).  

Derivative margins and collateral 
Derivative instruments traded by the Company give rise to collateral being placed with, or received from, external 
counterparties. At 31 December 2017 included in other receivables is $13.1 million (2016: $9.0 million) margins and collateral 
pledged in relation to listed futures margins. 

Reinsurance collateral received 
Collateral of $401.3 million (2016: $420.8 million) is held in third party trust funds by the Parent relating to the 2017 year 
retrocession programme which jointly protects Syndicate 2001 and the Company. 

Collateral held in third party trust funds is not recognised as assets pertaining to the Company but is available for immediate 
drawdown in the event of a default.  

Funds withheld as premium/claim deposits 
At 31 December 2017, the Company had net funds of $109.5 million (2016: $55.0 million) placed as claim deposits and net 
$28.2 million (2016: $25.5 million) premium deposits placed with/receivable from external brokers. In addition a further $101.7 
million (2016: $76.1 million) has been placed into pledged accounts to collateralise against losses due to reinsurance cedants. 

 

10. Insurance liabilities and reinsurance assets 
a) Net outstanding claims 
 

  2017 2016   

Outstanding claims Note 

Insurance 
liabilities 

$’000 

Reinsurers’ 
share 
$’000 

Net  
liabilities 

$’000 

Insurance  
liabilities 

$’000 

Reinsurers’  
share 
$’000 

Net liabilities 
$’000 

At 1 January  1,433,962   26,382  1,407,580  1,230,961  32,431  1,198,530  
           
Claims incurred during the current year  1,434,245  273,719  1,160,526  813,953  4,611  809,342  
Movements arising from prior year claims   51,751   283   51,468  2,154  (4,478) 6,632  
  1,485,996   274,002  1,211,994  816,107  133  815,974  
           

Acquisition through business combination    -    
 -    -  100,397  10,057  90,340  

Claims paid during the year   (800,455)  (47,524)  (752,931) (555,289) (15,747) (539,542) 
Reinsurance to close (RITC) and commutations   (76,315)  (4,509)  (71,806) (110,718) –  (110,718) 
Exchange adjustments   127,191   2,856   124,335  (47,496) (492) (47,004) 

At 31 December   2,170,379   251,207  1,919,172  1,433,962  26,382  1,407,580  
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The Company assesses its reinsurers’ share of outstanding claims for impairment on a quarterly basis by reviewing 
counterparty payment history and credit grades provided by rating agencies. The credit ratings of the Company’s reinsurers 
share of outstanding claims are shown in note 9(g).  

 

b) Claims development 
The tables below illustrate the development of the estimates of ultimate cumulative claims for the Company after the end of the 
underwriting year, illustrating how amounts estimated have changed from the first estimates made. Non-US dollar balances 
have been converted using 2017 exchange rates to aid comparability. 

Underwriting year 
Gross basis 

2008 
$’000 

2009 
$’000 

2010 
$’000 

2011 
$’000 

2012 
$’000 

2013 
$’000 

2014 
$’000 

2015 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

2017 
$’000 

Current ultimate gross  
written premium 

 595,056   729,888   769,296   922,268  1,105,084  1,222,062  1,424,316  1,514,695  1,454,869  1,411,252  

Current gross earned 
premium 

 595,056   729,888   769,296   922,268  1,104,829  1,220,422  1,403,802  1,423,379  1,304,138    782,697  

Estimate of cumulative 
claims  
at end of underwriting 
year 

 385,081   278,857   427,231   699,537    630,592    678,543    780,606    771,847    890,113  1,322,891  

One year later  325,578   268,527   729,055   678,735    538,652    645,858    735,689    804,718  1,029,882     -  
Two years later  339,067   268,547   754,272   670,659    525,990    627,952    740,088    833,669     -     -  
Three years later  334,647   261,805   738,628   677,008    531,874    619,001    743,317     -     -     -  
Four years later  335,192   259,806   747,460   673,075    538,157    634,020     -     -     -     -  
Five years later  333,415   258,730   742,803   668,534    550,357     -     -     -     -     -  
Six years later  335,164   265,424   758,239   674,976     -     -     -     -     -     -  

Seven years later  332,126   264,392   756,095     -     -     -     -     -     -     -  
Eight years later  335,634   263,812    -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -  
Nine years later  333,050    -    -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -  
Cumulative payments  330,346   261,673   737,340   618,919    469,898    542,545    573,534    486,422    366,810    193,948  
Estimated balance to 
pay 

 2,704   2,139   18,755    56,057    80,459    91,475    169,783    347,247    663,072  1,128,943  
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Underwriting year 
Net basis 

2008 
$’000 

2009 
$’000 

2010 
$’000 

2011 
$’000 

2012 
$’000 

2013 
$’000 

2014 
$’000 

2015 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

2017 
$’000 

Estimate of cumulative 
claims 

          

at end of underwriting 
year 

385,081 278,857 427,231 660,327 609,766 645,730 760,101 760,810 890,076 1,283,900 

One year later 325,578 268,527 680,286 641,756 520,956 612,039 715,589 778,000 1,029,882 - 
Two years later 339,067 267,441 710,649 630,837 508,746 594,579 720,674 804,646 - - 
Three years later 334,647 260,801 695,323 638,873 513,419 586,886 723,929 - - - 
Four years later 335,192 258,821 705,311 636,805 520,113 602,484 - - - - 
Five years later 333,415 257,808 698,609 632,263 532,781 - - - - - 
Six years later 335,164 264,803 714,053 638,705 - - - - - - 
Seven years later 332,126 263,771 712,005 - - - - - - - 
Eight years later 335,634 263,191 - - - - - - - - 
Nine years later 333,050 - - - - - - - - - 
Cumulative payments 330,346 261,052 693,202 582,649 452,304 510,922 550,721 465,158 366,440 156,908 
Estimated balance to pay 2,704 2,139 18,803 56,056 80,477 91,562 173,208 339,488 663,442 1,126,992 

 
         

Total 
$’000 

Net claims reserve 
(strengthen)/release 

2,584 580 2,048 (6,442) (12,668) (15,598) (3,255) (26,647) (139,806) (199,204) 

 
The Company’s net aggregate reserve deterioration from prior years amounted to $51.5 million (2016: deterioration $6.6 
million).  

This differs from the $199.2 million deterioration in reserves stated in the claims development table above because the table is 
on an underwriting year basis and the deteriorations in this narrative are on an annually accounted basis. 
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10. Insurance liabilities and reinsurance assets continued 
c) Net unearned premium 
Unearned premiums are further analysed between earned and ceded premium below:  

  2017 2016 

Unearned premium 

 
 

Note 

Insurance 
liabilities 

$’000 

Reinsurers’  
share 
$’000 

Net  
liabilities 

$’000 

Insurance 
liabilities 

$’000 

Reinsurers’  
share 
$’000 

Net  
liabilities 

$’000 

At 1 January    869,500     3,377    866,123    738,237    5,325    732,912  
Acquisition through business combination       -      -       -    47,531     837    46,694  
Premiums written during the year    1,328,337   130,712   1,197,625   1,362,589   83,653   1,278,936  
Premiums earned during the year  (1,349,524)  (131,664) (1,217,860)  (1,276,525)  (86,530)  (1,189,995) 
Exchange adjustments     45,743     902     44,841    (2,332)    92   (2,424) 
At 31 December     894,056     3,327    890,729    869,500    3,377    866,123  
 
 
d) Deferred acquisition costs 
The reconciliation of opening and closing deferred acquisition costs is as follows: 

 
2017 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

At 1 January   189,853  155,783  
Expenses for the acquisition of insurance contracts deferred during the year   252,070  261,271  
Amortisation   (249,695) (234,663) 
Other movements   10,171  7,462 
At 31 December   202,399  189,853  
 
 
e) Insurance and reinsurance receivables 
 

 
31 December 2017 

$’000 
31 December 2016 

$’000 

Receivables arising from reinsurance contracts   1,027,224 901,211 
 
 
Receivables arising from reinsurance contracts are comprised principally of amounts recoverable from reinsurers in respect of 
paid claims and premium receivables on inward reinsurance business, including reinstatement premium. The carrying amounts 
disclosed above are reasonably approximate to the fair value at the reporting date. 

The Company assesses its insurance and reinsurance receivables for impairment on a quarterly basis by reviewing 
counterparty payment history and for circumstances which may give rise to a dispute or default, alongside credit grades 
provided by rating agencies. The credit ratings of the Company’s insurance and reinsurance receivables are shown in note 
9(g). 

The carrying amounts disclosed above are reasonably approximate to the fair value at the reporting date.  

The ageing analysis of insurance and reinsurance receivables overdue, before impairment provision, is as follows: 

 
31 December 2017 

$’000 
31 December 2016 

$’000 

Not overdue or less than 3 months   999,499  882,737  
3 to 6 months     7,900  3,886  
6 to 9 months    12,085  10,732  
Greater than 9 months     7,740  3,765  
   1,027,224  901,120  
 
 
 
Movements on the Company’s provision for impairment of receivables arising from contract holders and agents are as follows: 
 

 
2017 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

At 1 January     91      94  
Increase in the provision – – 
Release of unused provision     (91)     (3) 
At 31 December     -      91  
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f) Insurance and reinsurance payables 

 
2017  
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

Insurance and reinsurance payables   242,419 153,605 
 
Insurance and reinsurance payables are expected to be settled currently. 
 
The carrying amounts disclosed above are reasonably approximate to the fair value at the reporting date.  

Insurance payables are comprised principally of premium payable for reinsurance and claims payable.  

g) Underwriting risk 
The Company accepts underwriting risk in a range of classes of business. The bias of the Company’s portfolio is towards short-
tail property and accident risk but liability coverage is also underwritten. The Company operates across regional and national 
boundaries to provide a global service. 

In underwriting reinsurance policies the Company’s underwriters use their skill and knowledge to assess each risk. Exposure 
information and data on past claims experience is used to evaluate the likely claims cost and therefore the premium that should 
be sufficient (across a portfolio of risks) to cover claims costs, expenses, and to produce an acceptable profit. However, due to 
the nature of insurance risk, there is no guarantee that the premium charged will be sufficient to cover claim costs. This shortfall 
may originate either from insufficient premium being calculated and charged or may result from an unexpected, or 
unprecedented, high level of claims.  

A number of controls are deployed to limit the amount of insurance exposure underwritten. Each year a business plan is 
prepared and agreed by the Board of Directors. The plan is used to monitor the amount of premium income, and exposure, to 
be written in total and for each class of business. Progress against this plan is monitored during the year. 

Apart from the international motor liability portfolio, which has unlimited liability, all policies have a per loss limit which caps the 
size of any individual claim. The Company operates line guides that determine the maximum liability per policy that can be 
written for each class (on a gross or net of facultative reinsurance basis) by each underwriter. These limits can be exceeded in 
exceptional circumstances with the approval of senior management. 

The Company is also exposed to catastrophe losses which may impact many risks in a single event. Reinsurance is purchased 
to limit the impact of loss aggregation from such events. These reinsurance arrangements are described in note 10(h). 

 
The insurance policies underwritten by the Company are reviewed on an individual risk, or contract, basis and through review 
of portfolio performance. Claims arising are reserved upon notification. Each quarter the entire portfolio of business is subject to 
a reserving process whereby levels of paid and outstanding (advised but not paid) claims are reviewed. Potential future claims 
are assessed with a provision for incurred but not reported (IBNR) claims being made. Whilst a detailed and disciplined 
exercise is carried out to provide for claims notified, it is possible that known claims could develop and exceed the reserves 
carried.  

Furthermore, there is increased uncertainty in establishing an accurate provision for IBNR claims and there is a possibility that 
claims may arise which, in aggregate, exceed the reserve provision established. This is partly mitigated by the reserving policy 
adopted by the Company which is to carry reserves in excess of mean actuarial best estimate. 

The review of claims arising may result in underwriters adjusting pricing levels to cater for an unexpectedly higher trend of 
claims advices or payments. However, this may not be possible in a competitive market and underwriters may respond either 
by accepting business with lower expected profit margins or declining to renew policies and thus reducing income.  

The Company is exposed to the impact of large catastrophe events such as windstorms, earthquakes or terrorist incidents. 
Exposure to such events is controlled and measured through loss modelling. It is possible that a catastrophe event could 
exceed the maximum expected event loss. This is particularly the case for the property proportion of the loss exposure where 
models are used to calculate a damage factor representing the amount of damage expected to exposed aggregate insured 
values from a particular scenario. Errors, or incorrect assumptions, in the damage factor calculation can result in incurred 
catastrophe event claims higher, or lower, than predicted due to unforeseen circumstances, inadequacies in data, or 
shortcomings in the models used.  

As explained in note 10(h), reinsurance is purchased to protect against the impact of any individual or series of severe 
catastrophes. However, the price and availability of such cover is variable and the amount of loss retained by the Company 
may therefore also increase or reduce. The Company will alter its insurance and reinsurance exposures to take account of the 
change in reinsurance availability and cost, capital levels and profitability in order to remain within the risk appetite guidelines. 

Section A below describes the reinsurance portfolio written by the Company and the associated risks of such business. Section 
B summaries the business written within each group of reinsurance portfolios. 

A. (i) Property 
Catastrophe reinsurance protects insurance companies against losses, such as windstorm or earthquake which may impact 
more than one risk written by the client. The catastrophe excess of loss portfolio is a key part of the reinsurance risk written by 
the Company.  
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These programmes are placed on a layered or excess of loss basis. Territorial exposures, from a number of programmes, are 
carefully recorded and analysed through loss simulations and realistic disaster scenarios but represent significant loss 
exposure to natural or man-made catastrophes.  

Aggregate excess of loss programmes are also written providing protection in response to multiple loss events. 

Per risk property reinsurance is written on an excess of loss basis but covers loss or damage to any single risk within the 
reinsured’s portfolio. This portfolio protects insureds against large individual property losses, and will also be affected by large 
catastrophe losses. 

Proportional property reinsurance covers a proportionate share of a reinsured’s portfolio of business subject to payment of 
commission and/or profit commission. Proportional property business is normally written with an occurrence limit. 

The Company’s portfolio of property reinsurance business is written with the aim of achieving territorial diversification. However, 
as experienced in 2017, a single or series of severe catastrophes is likely to result in a loss to the portfolio prior to 
retrocessional reinsurance. For each operating division, overall catastrophe loss limits are applied in relation to specific 
scenarios as an allocation of total Company tolerances. 

A. (ii) Casualty 
The US casualty reinsurance account provides cover for reinsureds in respect of legal liability arising from insureds’ activities 
and actions or for incidents occurring on insureds’ properties. The portfolio is written on both an excess of loss and proportional 
basis but most underlying policies are on a claims notified basis (responding to all claims made during a defined period). The 
portfolio includes specialist general casualty, professional indemnity, medical malpractice and errors and omissions cover. 
Small amounts of directors’ and officers’ liability and automobile liability are also written.  

US Workers Compensation Act /casualty clash excess of loss business may be impacted by large catastrophic events such as 
an earthquake.  

International liability reinsurance business is mainly general third party liability protecting companies against significant public or 
products liability claims, written on a proportional or excess of loss basis. The liability account also includes some professional 
liability reinsurance.  

The construction and engineering portfolio provides liability and property reinsurance cover for construction projects which may 
be of several years’ duration. 

A. (iii) Motor 
Motor reinsurance is written on a proportional and excess of loss basis. This portfolio is at risk from increases in frequency or 
severity of motor accident claims and bodily injury or third party property claims payments which may take several years to 
settle. Unlimited and limited motor business is written. Whilst the original premium and the investment income generated are 
expected to be more than sufficient to meet such claims, there is no guarantee that this will be the case, particularly due to 
inflation or superimposed inflation resulting from changes to court awards. The aim is to diversify the portfolio across several 
territories in order to reduce the impact of a single legal jurisdiction revising its claims policy. 

A. (iv) Personal accident 
Personal accident reinsurance is written on a worldwide basis. Such business could be impacted by a single or series of 
accidents due to high value insured individuals or from a multiple death and injury event, such as an air crash or natural 
catastrophe. 

 
A. (v) Marine 
The Company’s portfolio of marine excess of loss reinsurance protects insurers against losses to their direct portfolios of 
business on a worldwide basis. This will include offshore energy business, specie and other static risks written in reinsured 
companies’ marine portfolios. The marine account, in particular, is exposed to catastrophe losses as well as large individual risk 
losses. 

A. (vi) Special risks 
The portfolio includes short-term trade credit and contingency business as well as trade credit reinsurance which protect 
reinsureds against the non-payment of monies or goods or services due from trade partners locally or overseas. Mortgage 
Indemnity business is also written in the special risk account. 

h) Reinsurance and other risk mitigation arrangements 
The Company purchases excess of loss and proportional reinsurances to protect its portfolio from severe frequency or size of 
losses. The structure of these programmes and type of protection sought will vary from year to year depending on the 
availability and price of cover.  

The main retrocessional excess of loss programme is purchased to protect the property excess of loss reinsurance portfolio 
written by the Company against catastrophe events. Aggregate protection has been renewed to provide lower level cover in the 
event of multiple losses to the portfolio. 

In December 2014, the Company acquired coverage for US hurricane, US earthquake and European windstorm perils of up to 
$200.0 million from Tramline Re II Ltd, which in turn placed a second catastrophe bond into the capital markets. This transaction 
replaces the coverage provided by Tramline Re Ltd (which expired on 31 December 2014) and provides the Company with fully 
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collateralised protection over a four year period from 1 January 2015. This is in addition to the protection the Company purchases 
through the traditional reinsurance marketplace. The bond provides significant protection against remote but substantial catastrophe 
events for the Company.  

There is no guarantee that reinsurance coverage will be available to meet all potential loss circumstances as, for very severe 
catastrophe losses, it is possible that the full extent of the cover bought is eroded. Any loss amount which exceeds the 
programme would be retained by the Company.  

Many parts of the programme have limited reinstatements and therefore the recoveries from subsequent major losses are 
limited. It is possible for the reinsurance programme to be exhausted by a series of losses in one annual period and it may not 
be possible to purchase additional reinsurance for an acceptable price. This would result in the Company bearing higher losses 
from further events occurring.  

B. Business written  
 
The table below summarises the gross written premium across the reinsurance portfolios of the Company. 
The following points apply to the table: 

• The Bermuda branch gross written premiums do not include business ceded by the Parent’s subsidiaries 
discussed in note 18. 

• Gross written premium is stated gross of acquisition costs and excludes adjustments in respect of prior 

  

Bermuda Zurich Bermuda Zurich 

Gross written 
premium 

Gross written 
premium 

Gross written 
premium 

Gross written 
premium 

$million €million $million €million 

31 December 2017 31 December 2016 

(i) Property – reinsurance     

Catastrophe reinsurance (per programme)    269      38     228      48  

Per risk property reinsurance (per programme)     41      22      44      24  

Proportional reinsurance    142      72     167      90  

Engineering     -      61      -      62  

(ii) Casualty – reinsurance     

Casualty     85      50     138      66  

Liability     -      -      -      -  

(iii) Motor – reinsurance     

Motor     -     108      -     143  

(vi) Personal accident – reinsurance     

Accident and Health     -      -      3      -  

Personal accident     -      -      -      11  

(v) Marine – reinsurance     

Marine (per programme)     3      12      2      11  

(vi) Special risks – reinsurance     

Special risks     15      9     114      11  

Surety    112      8      -      3  

Total treaty reinsurance 666 380 696 469 

 

 

Realistic Disaster Scenario (RDS) analysis 
The Company has a defined event risk tolerance which determines the maximum net loss that the Company intends to limit its 
exposure with respect to major modelled catastrophe event scenarios. Currently, the largest of these is $310m for US 
windstorm. 

These scenarios are extraordinary events – with an occurrence probability of less than 1 in 50 years estimated for the natural 
peril or elemental losses. The risk tolerance policy recognises that there may be circumstances in which the net event limit 
could be exceeded. Such circumstances include changes in rates of exchange, non-renewal or delay in renewal of reinsurance 
protection, reinsurance security failure, or regulatory and legal requirements which increase original claims levels. 
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A detailed analysis of catastrophe exposures is carried out every quarter and measured against risk tolerance. The following 
assumptions and procedures are used in the process: 
 
 The data used reflects the information supplied to the Company by insureds and ceding companies. This may prove to be 

incomplete, inaccurate or could develop during the policy period; 
 The exposures are modelled using a mixture of stochastic models and underwriter input to arrive at ‘damage factors’ – these 

factors are then applied to the assumed aggregate exposure to produce gross loss estimates. The damage factors may 
prove to be inadequate; 

 The reinsurance programme, as purchased, is applied – a provision for reinsurer counterparty failure is included but may 
prove to be inadequate; and 

 Reinstatement premiums both payable and receivable are included. 

There is no guarantee that the assumptions and techniques deployed in calculating these event loss estimate figures are 
accurate.  

Furthermore there could also be a loss which exceeds these figures. The likelihood of such a catastrophe is considered to be 
remote, but the most severe scenarios modelled are simulated events and these simulations could prove to be unreliable. 

 

i) Claims reserving and IBNR 
Insurance liabilities and reinsurance assets: Calculation of incurred but not reported (IBNR) and claims development 
The Company adopts a rigorous process in the calculation of an adequate provision for insurance claim liabilities. The 
overriding aim is to establish reserves which are expected to be at least adequate and that there is consistency from year to 
year. Therefore, the reserves are set at a level above the mean actuarial ‘best estimate’ position. However, there is a risk that, 
due to unforeseen circumstances, the reserves carried are not sufficient to meet insurance claim liabilities reported in future 
years on policy periods which have expired. 

Process and methodology 
The reserving process commences with the proper recording and reporting of claims information which consists of booked 
premiums and paid and notified or outstanding claims. Information on claims is received directly from brokers and 
policyholders. Claims records are maintained for each policy and class. For outstanding claims, a case reserve is established 
based on the views of underwriting management and claims managers. This reserve is expected to be sufficient to meet the 
claim payment when it is finally determined. For some classes of business, particularly liability business, settlement may be 
several years after the initial notification of the claim. 

To assist with the process of determining the reserves triangulation statistics for each class are produced which show the 
historical development of booked premium, as well as paid and incurred losses, for each underwriting year. In all cases, the 
different potential development of each class of business is fully recognised. The development period varies by class, by 
method of acceptance and is also determined by the deductible of each policy written. For casualty business, the policy form 
will determine whether claims can be made on a claims made (as advised) or as a losses occurring (determined by date of 
loss) basis. This has a significant impact on the reporting period in which claims can be notified.  

IBNR 
To establish a provision for IBNR claims, the actuarial teams use their experience and knowledge of the classes of business to 
estimate the potential future development of the incurred claims for each class for every underwriting year. This is known as the 
“best estimate”. In setting the IBNR provision, estimates are made for the ultimate premium and ultimate gross claims value for 
each underwriting year. Allowance is then made for anticipated reinsurance recoveries to reach a net claim position. 
Reinsurance recoveries are calculated for outstanding and IBNR claims, sometimes through the use of historical recovery rates 
or statistical projections, and provisions are made as appropriate for bad debt or possible disputes. The component of ultimate 
IBNR provision estimates and reinsurance recoveries that relates to future events occurring to the existing portfolio is removed 
in order to reflect generally accepted accounting practice.  

Meetings are initially held in which underwriters and actuaries discuss the initial proposed estimates and revise them if it is felt 
necessary. At the next round of meetings, local management discuss reserving issues with the actuaries and underwriters and 
challenges the proposed estimates. At this meeting, local management proposes the ‘margin’ for risk to be added to the best 
estimate, assisted by diagnostics produced from the internal model. The margin is proposed on a net of reinsurance basis only. 
Further meetings are then held at which further review and challenge is provided, led by the Parent’s risk function. 

Areas of uncertainty 
The reserves established can be more or less than adequate to meet eventual claims arising. The level of uncertainty varies 
significantly from class to class but can arise from inadequate case reserves for known large losses and catastrophes, or from 
inadequate provision for IBNR claims. The impact on profit before tax of a 1% improvement/deterioration in the total net claims 
reserves would be $19.2 million gain/loss (2016: $14.1 million). 

Property catastrophe claims, such as earthquake or hurricane losses can take several months, or years, to develop as 
adjusters visit damaged property and agree claim valuations. Until all the claims are settled it requires an analysis of the area 
damaged, contracts exposed and the use of models to simulate the losses against the portfolio of exposure in order to arrive at 
an estimate of the ultimate loss to the Company. There is uncertainty over the adequacy of information and modelling of major 
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losses for a period that can range from several months to a number of years after a catastrophe loss. Account should also be 
taken of factors which may influence the size of claims such as increased inflation or a change in law. 

The long tail liability classes represent the most difficult classes to project because often claims are notified and settled several 
years after the expiry of the policy concerned. This is particularly the case for liability business written on a losses occurring 
basis. The use of historical development data is fundamental to reserving these classes. 

The allocation of IBNR to the reinsurance programme is an uncertain exercise as there is limited knowledge of the size or 
number of future claims advices. The assumption over future reinsurance recoveries may be incorrect and unforeseen disputes 
could arise which would reduce recoveries made. 
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11. Property and equipment  
 

 2017 Note 

Motor 
Vehicles 

$’000 

Computer 
equipment 

$’000 

Fixtures,
fittings and
leasehold

improvements
$’000

Total 
$’000 

Cost      

At 1 January 2017     341        6,575     6,471    13,387  
Additions      -         584     2,113     2,697  
Disposals     (189)       (401)    (148)    (738) 
Foreign exchange gains      -         78     373    451 
At 31 December 2017     152        6,836     8,809    15,797  
Accumulated depreciation      
At 1 January 2017     163        5,557     4,575    10,295  
Charge for the year     (49)        248      421     620  
Foreign exchange losses      -         74     257    331 
At 31 December 2017     114        5,879     5,253    11,246  
Net book value      
At 31 December 2017      38         957     3,556     4,551  
At 1 January 2017     178        1,018     1,896     3,092  
 

2016 Note 

Motor 
Vehicles 

$’000 

Computer 
equipment 

$’000 

Fixtures,
fittings and
leasehold

improvements
$’000

Total 
$’000 

Cost      

At 1 January 2016  – 5,337  3,898  9,235  
Acquisitions through business combination  341 1,107  730  2,178  
Additions  – 149  1,964  2,113  
Foreign exchange gains  – (18) (121) (139) 
At 31 December 2016  341 6,575  6,471  13,387  
Accumulated depreciation      
At 1 January 2016  – 4,949  3,364  8,313  
Acquisitions through business combination  163 390 639 1,192 
Charge for the year  – 236  635  871  
Foreign exchange losses  – (18) (63) (81) 
At 31 December 2016  163 5,557  4,575  10,295  
Net book value      
At 31 December 2016  178 1,018  1,896  3,092  
At 1 January 2016  – 388  534  922  
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12. Intangible Assets  
 
 

 2017 Note 
Computer software 

$m 

Cost   

At 1 January 2017     4,663  

Acquisition through business combination       -  

Additions       390  

Amortisation      (4,052) 

Net book value at 31 December 2017       1,001  

 

2016 Note 
Computer software 

$m 

Cost 

At 1 January 2016       -  

Acquisition through business combination     4,663  

Amortisation   0 

Net book value at 31 December 2016       4,663  

 
 
 
Computer software represents the costs that the Company has incurred on internally developed computer software which 
relates to costs directly attributable to the development of an IT platform in MS Frontier Reinsurance Limited which was 
acquired during the 2016 financial year by the Company. 
 
 
13. Retirement benefit obligations  
The Company operates defined contribution schemes in Bermuda and Labuan. In Zurich, the Company operates a pension 
scheme which meets the classification of a defined benefit scheme under IAS 19. 

a) Defined benefit scheme 
In accordance with Swiss legislation, the Company provides for occupational pension insurance, the regulations of which, as 
may be amended from time to time, apply to both the Company and the employee. The pension scheme’s Management Board 
(equally consisting of employer as well as employee representatives) retains overall responsibility for deciding on such 
fundamental aspects as the level and structure of plan benefits.  

The insured salary is based on the agreed compensation exclusive of bonus and/or other benefits granted by the Company. 
The employees pay a portion of the premiums determined in the applicable pension fund regulations. 
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Net defined benefit liability 
 
The movement in the net defined benefit liability is as follows: 
 

2017 

Present value 
of 

obligation 
$’000 

Fair value of 
scheme 

assets 
$’000 

Net defined 
benefit liability 

$’000 

At 1 January 2017      (24,810)      17,576      (7,234) 
Interest (expense)/income       (189)        140       (49) 
Current service cost      (1,828)        -      (1,828) 
Administration expenses        41        (41)      - 
(Charged)/credited to statement of profit or loss      (1,976)        99      (1,877) 
Re-measurements:    
Actuarial gains and losses arising from :    
– changes in financial assumptions       (713)        -      (713) 
– other actuarial gains/(losses)       290        -       290 
Return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest (expense)/income        -         6       6  
Credited to statement of other comprehensive income       (423)         6     (417) 
Exchange differences      (1,069)        821     (248) 
Participant contributions       (663)        663       -  
Benefits paid       (85)        85      -  
Employer contributions        -       1,416      1,416  
At 31 December 2017      (29,026)      20,666      (8,360) 
    

 

2016 

Present value 
of 

obligation 
$’000 

Fair value of 
scheme 

assets 
$’000 

Net defined 
benefit liability 

$’000 

At 1 January 2016 (25,754) 17,341  (8,413) 

Interest (expense)/income (192) 136  (56) 
Current service cost (1,866) – (1,866) 
Past service cost –  – – 
Administration expenses 41  (41) – 
(Charged)/credited to statement of profit or loss (2,017) 95  (1,922) 
Re-measurements:    
Actuarial gains and losses arising from :    
– changes in financial assumptions 153 – 153 
– other actuarial gains/(losses) 570 – 570 
Return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest (expense)/income – 18 18  
Charged to statement of other comprehensive income 1,665 18 1,683 
Exchange differences 367  (335) 32  
Participant contributions (667) 667  – 
Benefits paid 1,596 (1,596) – 
Employer contributions – 1,386  1,386  
At 31 December 2016 (24,810) 17,576  (7,234) 
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13. Retirement benefit obligations continued 
a) Defined benefit scheme continued 
 
Funding arrangements  
Funding arrangements are in accordance with the related insurance arrangements and regulations described above. 

Risks to which the Company is exposed through its defined benefit schemes 
The defined benefit scheme exposes the Company to the following risks: 

 Changes in bond yields – The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the defined benefit obligation is based 
upon the yield of high quality debt instruments issued by blue chip companies, with maturities consistent with those of the 
defined benefit obligations. A decrease in bond yields is likely to increase the defined benefit obligation.  

 Inflation risk – The defined benefit obligation is linked to inflation and therefore should the inflation rate increase, there will be 
an increase in the plan obligation. 

 Life expectancy – The present value of the defined benefit obligation is calculated based on certain mortality assumptions as 
stated below. An increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will result in an increase in the defined benefit 
obligation. 

 Risk of insurer default – if the insurer is unable to meet its obligations, or if the contract is cancelled by either party; it will fall 
to the Company to provide the benefits to members in accordance with the relevant scheme assets.  

 
Significant actuarial assumptions 
The significant actuarial assumptions used as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 were: 

 
2017 
% pa 

2016 
% pa 

Discount rate for pension benefits 0.7 0.8 
Price inflation – Consumer Price Index (CPI) 1.25 1.0 
Expected salary increases – general 2.3 2.0 
 
The mortality assumptions used in the 31 December 2017 and 2016 valuation included the following life expectancies: 

 2017 2016 

Life expectancy (years) at age 60 for a member currently: Male Female Male Female 

Aged 60 27.5 29.8 27.2 29.5 
Aged 45 29.0 31.1 28.7 30.9 
 
Significant actuarial assumptions – sensitivities 
The table below shows the impact on the defined benefit obligation that a change in certain key assumptions would have:  
 

Assumption change 
2017 
$’000 

2016  
$’000 

(Increase)/decrease in discount rate by 0.25% (1.1)/1.0 0.7/(0.8) 
(Decrease)/increase in inflation rate by 0.25% (0.4)/0.2 (0.1)/0.1 
(Decrease)/increase in life expectancy by one year  (0.5)/0.5 (0.4)/(0.4) 
 
The above sensitivities of the significant actuarial assumptions have been calculated by changing each assumption in turn 
whilst all remaining assumptions are held constant. The limitation of this sensitivity analysis is that in practice assumptions may 
be correlated and therefore are unlikely to change in isolation.  

Analysis of scheme assets 

MS Amlin AG pension plan is a fully insured plan. Therefore, the underlying assets are insurance contracts with the interest 
credit being guaranteed. From an asset allocation perspective, insurance contracts would be treated as“Other”and relates to 
investments in pooled vehicles (2016: pooled vehicles). 

Maturity profile of the defined benefit obligations 
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 18.0 years (2016: 18.0 years). 

The expected maturity analysis of the undiscounted pension benefits is as follows: 

2017 
$’000 

2016  
$’000 

Less than a year 1,170  1,036  
Between 1-2 years 1,178  1,044  
Between 2-5 years 3,626  3,276  
Over 5 years 58,633  53,000  
Total  64,607  58,356  
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Expected contributions 
The effect of the defined benefit plans on the Company’s future cash flows as a result of the expected contributions for the year 
ending 31 December 2018 are as follows: 

 
2018 
$’000 

2017  
$’000 

Contributions from the Company 1,363  1,248  
Contributions from plan participants 630  583  
Total contributions to the schemes 1,993  1,831  
 
b) Stakeholder defined contribution schemes 
The defined contribution scheme operated by the Company is a stakeholder arrangement. The total contributions to the 
schemes for the year ended 31 December 2017 are $1.1 million (2016: $0.8 million). 

The total Pension Costs (as shown in Note 5) of $2.9 million consists of the expenses of $1.8 million for the defined benefit plan 
and $1.1 million contribution from the above stated amounts. 

 

14. Capital and reserves 
Share capital 
 

 
2017 

Number 
2017 
$’000 

2016 
Number 

2016 
$’000 

Authorised and issued share capital     
At 1 January issued shares of CHF1 each. 10,000,001 10,204 10,000,000 10,204 

Ordinary shares of 1 CHF each issues in the year – – 1 – 

At 31 December issued shares of CHF1 each. 10,000,001 10,204 10,000,001 10,204 
 
The Company issued 1 share on 31 December 2016 for $486.4 million for the acquisition of MSFR. 
 
15. Commitments 
a) Capital commitments 
The Company has made a commitment to subscribe to property funds at 31 December 2017 of $10.1 million (2016: 
$14.5 million) in the normal course of investment activities. 

 
b) Operating lease commitments 
The Company leases various offices, as a lessee, under operating lease agreements. The Company is required to give notice 
for the termination of these agreements. The lease expenditure charged to the statement of profit or loss during the year is 
$0.7 million (2016: $0.8 million). 

 
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 
 

 
2017  
$000 

2016  
$000 

No later than 1 year 2,870  2,843  
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 5,354  8,672  
 8,224  11,515  
 
16. Related party transactions  
The following transactions were carried out with related parties: 

a) Transactions and balances with related parties 
i) Funds managed by Leadenhall Capital Partners LLP 
Leadenhall Capital Partners LLP (LCP), a partnership controlled by MS Amlin Corporate Services Ltd. which is a related MS 
Amlin plc Group company, is an investment fund manager wholly focused on managing insurance linked investment portfolios 
for institutional investors. The total funds under management at 31 December 2017 were $93.3 million (2016: $99.9 million).  

ii) Transactions by the Funds managed by Leadenhall Capital Partners LLP 
At 31 December 2017, funds managed by LCP held $0.5 million (2016: $12.8 million) of the catastrophe bonds issued by 
Tramline Re II Ltd.  

Details of the Company’s transactions with Tramline Re II Ltd can be found in note 10(h).  

The Company participates in fronting arrangements whereby they write inwards reinsurance contracts which are 100% 
reinsured by Horseshoe Re Limited on behalf of its segregated accounts. Funds managed by LCP have invested within these 
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segregated accounts. During the year, the Company wrote $nil (2016: $0.1 million) of gross premium and received $nil (2016: 
$0.1 million) of commission through this arrangement. At 31 December 2017, $0.6million (2016: $0.1 million) was net payable 
to Horseshoe Re, of which $0.2 million (2016: $1.3 million) was reinsurers’ share of insurance liabilities, and $0.8 million (2016: 
$1.4) was reinsurance payables. 

iii) Reinsurance contracts 
During 2017 and 2016, there were a number of reinsurance arrangements entered into in the normal course of trade with 
various subsidiaries of the Parent. The amount of net written premium from these contracts during the year ended 31 
December 2017 was $338.9 million (2016: $335.9 million). The Company recorded a loss before tax of $137.5 million (2016: 
profit before tax of $45.8 million) on these reinsurance contracts. 

MS Amlin AG has invested $5m in Viribus Re which is structured as a side car cession of specific MS Amlin Underwriting 
Limited, Syndicate 2001 reinsurance classes. The Special Purpose Insurer is fully collateralised and the funds are invested in 
BlackRock Money Market funds. 
 
At 31 December balances included in these financial statements with respect to these reinsurance contracts include: 
 

 
2017 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

Insurance receivables 320,710 251,266 
Outstanding claims (478,638) (318,096) 
Insurance and reinsurance payables (184,690) (110,024) 
 
From 1 January 2016, the Company has provided protection to Syndicate 2001 for $160.4 million (2016 $160.4 million) for the 
catastrophe risks. 
 
iv) Other 
During the year, the Company was charged $55.7 million (2016: $35.6 million) for services provided by Amlin Corporate 
Services Limited (ACS). These services were purchased at cost. At 31 December 2017 $5.1 million (2016: $13.7 million) was 
payable in relation to these services. In December 2017, a number of initial margin calls in relation to derivative positions were 
triggered. At 31 December 2017, an amount of $4.4 million was payable to the Parent (2016: $10.4 million payable to the 
Parent). 

As discussed in note 9(f), the Company’s exposure to asset classes is achieved using physical and derivative instruments. The 
derivative strategy is managed through collateral and other agreements with the Parent. The collateral and unrealised losses as 
of 31 December 2017 amounted to $25.1 million (2016: $1.2 million) and $13.1 million (2016: $9.0 million), respectively. The 
collateral is included in other receivables and the unrealised loss is included in other payables.  

As discussed in note 9(b), in November 2017 the Company entered into a fixed term loan facility of $230.0 million with the 
Parent. 

b) Compensation of key management personnel 
Key management personnel are those Directors and senior managers responsible for planning and control of the activities of 
the Company. Key management comprises 6 Executive Directors and employees, 2 Independent Non-Executive Directors and 
2 Non-Executive Directors (2016: 5 Executive Directors and employees, and 5 Non-Executive Directors). Compensation during 
the year to key management personnel amounted to $6.3 million (2016: $7.6 million) all of which is short term employee 
benefits. 

17. Events after the reporting period 
 
No significant events have been identified between the date of the statement of financial position and the date on which the 
financial statements were authorised.  
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